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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited).
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Wyndham Worldwide Corporation
Parsippany, New Jersey
We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Wyndham Worldwide Corporation and subsidiaries (“the Company”) as of September 30,
2009, and the related consolidated statements of income for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the related consolidated
statement of cash flows for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity for the
nine-month period ended September 30, 2009. These interim financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
We conducted our reviews in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim financial
information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to such consolidated interim financial statements for them to be in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet
of the Company as of December 31, 2008, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended (not
presented herein); and in our report dated February 26, 2009, we expressed an unqualified opinion (which included an explanatory paragraph relating to the fact
that, prior to its separation from Cendant Corporation (“Cendant”; known as Avis Budget Group since August 29, 2006), the Company was comprised of the
assets and liabilities used in managing and operating the lodging, vacation exchange and rentals, and vacation ownership businesses of Cendant. Included in
Notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated and combined financial statements is a summary of transactions with related parties. As discussed in Note 23 to the
consolidated and combined financial statements, in connection with its separation from Cendant, the Company entered into certain guarantee commitments with
Cendant and has recorded the fair value of these guarantees as of July 31, 2006. As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated and combined financial statements, the
Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation (“FASB”) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109 on January 1, 2007. Also, as discussed in Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated and combined financial statements, the Company adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 157, Fair Value Measurements, on January 1, 2008, except as it applies to those nonfinancial assets and
nonfinancial liabilities as noted in FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS 157-2, which was issued on February 12, 2008) on those consolidated and combined
financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2008 is fairly stated, in all
material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Parsippany, New Jersey
November 5, 2009
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WYNDHAM WORLDWIDE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In millions, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2009
2008
Net revenues
Service fees and membership
Vacation ownership interest sales
Franchise fees
Consumer financing
Other
Net revenues
Expenses
Operating
Cost of vacation ownership interests
Consumer financing interest
Marketing and reservation
General and administrative
Asset impairments
Restructuring costs
Depreciation and amortization
Total expenses
Operating income
Other income, net
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

$

$

Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted

$

445
285
126
108
52
1,016

468
446
153
111
48
1,226

$

386
54
35
149
140
—
—
46
810
206
(2)
34
(1)
175
71
104 $

439
86
34
232
140
—
6
47
984
242
(5)
21
(2)
228
86
142 $

0.58
0.57

0.80
0.80

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2009
2008

$

$

1,241
766
342
325
163
2,837

$

1,153
136
102
423
398
—
46
134
2,392
445
(4)
79
(5)
375
155
220 $
1.23
1.21

$

1,344
1,153
402
314
157
3,370
1,284
226
93
659
438
28
6
137
2,871
499
(9)
59
(8)
457
175
282
1.59
1.58
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WYNDHAM WORLDWIDE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)
September 30,
2009

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables, net
Vacation ownership contract receivables, net
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets
Total current assets

$

Long-term vacation ownership contract receivables, net
Non-current inventory
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Trademarks, net
Franchise agreements and other intangibles, net
Other non-current assets
Total assets

$

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Securitized vacation ownership debt
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Deferred income
Due to former Parent and subsidiaries
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

$

Long-term securitized vacation ownership debt
Long-term debt
Deferred income taxes
Deferred income
Due to former Parent and subsidiaries
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

170
379
290
360
127
95
278
1,699
2,828
919
1,014
1,386
661
400
435
9,342

291
176
247
488
42
578
1,822

December 31,
2008

$

$

$

136
460
291
414
151
148
314
1,914
2,963
905
1,038
1,353
661
416
323
9,573

294
169
316
672
80
638
2,169

1,313
1,813
1,025
285
266
191
6,715

1,516
1,815
966
311
265
189
7,231

—
2

—
2

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, authorized 6,000,000 shares, none issued and outstanding
Common stock, $.01 par value, authorized 600,000,000 shares, issued 205,751,177 in 2009 and 204,645,505 shares in 2008
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Treasury stock, at cost—27,284,823 shares in 2009 and 2008
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
$
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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3,725
(380)
150
(870)
2,627
9,342 $

3,690
(578)
98
(870)
2,342
9,573
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WYNDHAM WORLDWIDE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In millions)
(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2009
2008
Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for loan losses
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation
Asset impairments
Non-cash interest
Net change in assets and liabilities, excluding the impact of acquisitions and dispositions:
Trade receivables
Vacation ownership contract receivables
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Due to former Parent and subsidiaries, net
Deferred income
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing Activities
Property and equipment additions
Net assets acquired, net of cash acquired, and acquisition-related payments
Equity investments and development advances
Proceeds from asset sales
Increase in securitization restricted cash
(Increase)/decrease in escrow deposit restricted cash
Other, net
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing Activities
Proceeds from securitized borrowings
Principal payments on securitized borrowings
Proceeds from non-securitized borrowings
Principal payments on non-securitized borrowings
Proceeds from note issuance
Purchase of call options
Proceeds from issuance of warrants
Dividends to shareholders
Repurchase of common stock
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Debt issuance costs
Other, net
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities
Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

$

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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220

$

282

134
346
80
28
—
33

137
314
94
28
28
7

117
(139)
(26)
17
36
(58)
(43)
(225)
49
569

22
(643)
(129)
—
(35)
(55)
(14)
129
(19)
146

(109)
—
(6)
3
(28)
1
1
(138)

(133)
(135)
(13)
7
(12)
(9)
—
(295)

934
(1,141)
790
(1,387)
460
(42)
11
(22)
—
—
(16)
2

1,645
(1,642)
1,385
(1,159)
—
—
—
(21)
(15)
5
(10)
(6)

(411)
14
34
136
170

182
(15)
18
210
228

$
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WYNDHAM WORLDWIDE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In millions)
(Unaudited)
Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balance at January 1, 2009
Comprehensive income
Net income
Currency translation adjustment, net of tax of $29
Unrealized gains on cash flow hedges, net of tax of $8
Total comprehensive income
Issuance of warrants
Issuance of shares for vesting of restricted stock units
Change in deferred compensation
Change in excess tax benefit on equity awards
Payment of dividends
Balance at September 30, 2009

205

$

2

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
1
—
—
—
206

—
—
—
—
—
2

$

$

Accumulated
Deficit

3,690

$

—
—
—
11
—
28
(4)
—
3,725

$

$

(578)

$

Treasury
Stock
Shares

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Amount

98

(27)

220
—
—

—
39
13

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—
—
(22)
(380)

—
—
—
—
—
150

—
—
—
—
—
(27)

—
—
—
—
—
(870)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

$

$

$

(870)

$

2,342

$

272
11
—
28
(4)
(22)
2,627

Table of Contents
WYNDHAM WORLDWIDE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unless otherwise noted, all amounts are in millions, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)
1.

Basis of Presentation
Wyndham Worldwide Corporation is a global provider of hospitality products and services. The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include
the accounts and transactions of Wyndham, as well as the entities in which Wyndham directly or indirectly has a controlling financial interest. The
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
In presenting the Consolidated Financial Statements, management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and related disclosures.
Estimates, by their nature, are based on judgment and available information. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. In management’s
opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements contain all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of interim results reported. The
results of operations reported for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for the entire year or any subsequent interim
period. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 2008 Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements included in its
Annual Report filed on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2009.
The Company applies the equity method of accounting when it has the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies of an
investee in accordance with guidance which is included in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)
323, “Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures” (Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for
Investments in Common Stock”). During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company recorded less than $1 million and $1 million,
respectively, of net earnings from such investments in other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income. During the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2008, such amounts were $3 million and $4 million, respectively.
Business Description
The Company operates in the following business segments:
·

Lodging—franchises hotels in the upscale, midscale, economy and extended stay segments of the lodging industry and provides property
management services to owners of the Company’s luxury, upscale and midscale hotels.

·

Vacation Exchange and Rentals—provides vacation exchange products and services to owners of intervals of vacation ownership interests
(“VOIs”) and markets vacation rental properties primarily on behalf of independent owners.

·

Vacation Ownership—develops, markets and sells VOIs to individual consumers, provides consumer financing in connection with the sale of
VOIs and provides property management services at resorts.

Significant Accounting Policies
Intangible Assets. With regard to the goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets recorded in connection with business combinations, the Company
annually (during the fourth quarter of each year subsequent to completing its annual forecasting process) or, more frequently if circumstances indicate
impairment may have occurred that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount, reviews the reporting
units’ carrying values as required by guidance which is included in ASC 350, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other” (Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”).
Quoted market prices for the Company’s reporting units are not available; therefore, management must apply judgment in determining the estimated fair
value of these reporting units for purposes of performing the annual goodwill impairment test. In performing its impairment analysis, the Company develops
its estimated fair values for its reporting units using a combination of the discounted cash flow methodology and the market multiple methodology. The
Company uses the discounted cash flow methodology to establish fair value by estimating the present value of the projected future cash flows to be generated
from the reporting unit. The Company uses the market multiple methodology to estimate the terminal value of each reporting unit by comparing such
reporting unit to other publicly traded companies that are similar from an operational and economic standpoint.
7
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Based on the results of the Company’s impairment evaluation performed during the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of
$1,342 million for the impairment of goodwill at its vacation ownership reporting unit, where all of the goodwill previously recorded was determined to be
impaired. The aggregate carrying values of the Company’s goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets were $1,386 million and $661 million,
respectively, as of September 30, 2009 and $1,353 million and $660 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2008. As of September 30, 2009, the
Company’s goodwill is allocated between its lodging ($297 million) and vacation exchange and rentals ($1,089 million) reporting units and other indefinitelived intangible assets are allocated between its lodging ($587 million) and vacation exchange and rentals ($74 million) reporting units. The Company
continues to monitor the goodwill recorded at its lodging and vacation exchange and rentals reporting units for indicators of impairment. If economic
conditions were to deteriorate significantly, or other important assumptions such as estimates of terminal value were to change significantly, the Company
may be required to record an impairment of the goodwill balance at its lodging and vacation exchange and rentals reporting units.
Allowance for Loan Losses. In the Company’s vacation ownership segment, the Company provides for estimated vacation ownership contract receivable
cancellations at the time of VOI sales by recording a provision for loan losses as a reduction of vacation ownership interest sales on the Consolidated
Statements of Income. The Company assesses the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses based on the historical performance of similar vacation
ownership contract receivables. The Company uses a technique referred to as static pool analysis, which tracks defaults for each year’s sales over the entire
life of those contract receivables. The Company considers current defaults, past due aging, historical write-offs of contracts, consumer credit scores (FICO
scores) in the assessment of borrower’s credit strength and expected loan performance. The Company also considers whether the historical economic
conditions are comparable to current economic conditions. If current conditions differ from the conditions in effect when the historical experience was
generated, the Company adjusts the allowance for loan losses to reflect the expected effects of the current environment on the collectibility of the Company’s
contract receivables.
Restricted Cash. The largest portion of the Company’s restricted cash relates to securitizations. The remaining portion is comprised of cash held in escrow
related to the Company’s vacation ownership business and cash held in all other escrow accounts. Restricted cash related to securitization was $183 million
and $155 million as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively, of which $110 million and $80 million were recorded within other current
assets as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively, and $73 million and $75 million were recorded within other non-current assets as of
September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Restricted cash related to escrow deposits was $27 million
and $30 million as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively, of which $27 million and $28 million were recorded within other current
assets as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively, and $2 million was recorded within other non-current assets as of December 31, 2008,
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Changes in Accounting Policies during 2009
Business Combinations. In December 2007, the FASB issued guidance which is included in ASC 805, “Business Combinations”
(SFAS No. 141(R),“Business Combinations”). ASC 805 establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer of a business recognizes and measures
in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. ASC 805 also provides
guidance for recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquired in the business combination and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the
financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. This Statement applies prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Company
adopted ASC 805 on January 1, 2009, as required. There was no material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements resulting from the
adoption.
Consolidation. In December 2007, the FASB issued ASC 810-10-65-1, “Consolidation—Transition” (SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in
Consolidated Financial Statements—an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin (“ARB”) No. 51”). ASC 810-10-65-1 amends guidance included in
ASC 810-10-45, “Consolidation—Other Presentation Matters” (ARB No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements”) to establish accounting and reporting
standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is
an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. In addition to the amendments to
ARB No. 51, ASC 810-10-65-1 amends guidance included in ASC 260, “Earnings Per Share” (SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share”), such that earnings per
share data will continue to be calculated the same way that such data were calculated before this Statement was issued. This guidance is effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
8
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beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2009, as required. There was no material impact on the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements resulting from the adoption.
Derivatives and Hedging. In March 2008, the FASB issued guidance which is included in ASC 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (SFAS No. 161, “Disclosure
about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities-an amendment of SFAS No. 133”). ASC 815 requires specific disclosures regarding the location and
amounts of derivative instruments in the Company’s financial statements; how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for; and how
derivative instruments and related hedged items affect the Company’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. ASC 815 is effective for
fiscal years and interim periods after November 15, 2008. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2009, as required. See Note 8—Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities for a detailed explanation of the impact of the adoption.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. In September 2006, the FASB issued guidance which is included in ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures” (SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”). ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. ASC 820 explains the definition of fair value as the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC 820
clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability and establishes a
fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those assumptions. In February 2008, the FASB issued ASC 820-10-65-1, “Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures” (Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS 157-2, “Effective Date of Statement No. 157”) which deferred the effective date of ASC 820
for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company adopted ASC 820 on January 1, 2008,
as required, for financial assets and financial liabilities (see Note 7—Fair Value). On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted ASC 820-10-65-1, as required,
for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities. There was no material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements resulting from such
adoption.
Determining Fair Value Under Market Activity Decline. In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC 820-10-65-4, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures—
Transition” (FSP FAS 157-4, “Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or Liability Have Significantly Decreased and
Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly”). ASC 820-10-65-4 clarifies the objective and method of fair value measurement even when there has been a
significant decrease in market activity for the asset being measured. ASC 820-10-65-4 is effective for interim or annual reporting periods ending after
June 15, 2009. The Company adopted ASC 820-10-65-4 on June 30, 2009, as required, and there was no material impact on the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements.
Financial Instruments. In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC 825-10-65-1, “Financial Instruments—Transition” (FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1,
“Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments”). ASC 825-10-65-1 amends guidance which is included in ASC 825, “Financial Instruments”
(SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments”), to require disclosures about fair value of financial instruments in interim as well
as in annual financial statements. ASC 825-10-65-1 also amends guidance which is included in ASC 270, “Interim Reporting” (APB Opinion No. 28,
“Interim Financial Reporting”), to require those disclosures in all interim financial statements. ASC 825-10-65-1 is effective for interim or annual reporting
periods ending after June 15, 2009. The Company adopted ASC 825-10-65-1 on June 30, 2009, as required (see Note 7—Fair Value).
Transfers and Servicing. In June 2009, the FASB issued guidance which is included in ASC 860, “Transfers and Servicing” (SFAS No. 166, “Accounting
for Transfers of Financial Assets, an amendment to SFAS No. 140”). ASC 860 eliminates the concept of a “qualifying special-purpose entity,” changes the
requirements for derecognizing financial assets, and requires additional disclosures in order to enhance information reported to users of financial statements
by providing greater transparency about transfers of financial assets, including securitization transactions, and an entity’s continuing involvement in and
exposure to the risks related to transferred financial assets. ASC 860 is effective for interim or annual reporting periods ending after November 15, 2009.
The Company will adopt ASC 860 on January 1, 2010, as required. The Company has preliminarily evaluated the impact of adoption on its Consolidated
Financial Statements and believes such impact will not be material.
Consolidation. In June 2009, the FASB issued guidance which is included in ASC 810, “Consolidation” (SFAS No. 167, “Amendments to FASB
Interpretation No. 46(R)”). ASC 810 modifies how a company determines when an entity that is insufficiently capitalized or is not controlled through voting
(or similar rights) should be consolidated. ASC 810 clarifies that the determination of whether a company is required to consolidate an entity is based on,
among other things, an entity’s purpose and design and a company’s ability to direct the activities of the
9

Table of Contents
entity that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance. ASC 810 requires an ongoing reassessment of whether a company is the primary
beneficiary of a variable interest entity, additional disclosures about a company’s involvement in variable interest entities and any significant changes in risk
exposure due to that involvement. ASC 810 is effective for interim or annual reporting periods ending after November 15, 2009. The Company will adopt
ASC 810 on January 1, 2010, as required. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASC 810 on its Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements. In September 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2009-13, “Multiple-Deliverable
Revenue Arrangements” (amendments to ASC Topic 605, “Revenue Recognition”), which requires an entity to apply the relative selling price allocation
method in order to estimate selling prices for all units of accounting, including delivered items, when vendor-specific objective evidence or acceptable thirdparty evidence does not exist. ASU 2009-13 is effective for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after
June 15, 2010 and shall be applied on a prospective basis. Earlier application is permitted as of the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2009-13 on its Consolidated Financial Statements.
2.

Earnings Per Share
The computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) is based on the Company’s net income divided by the basic weighted average number of
common shares and diluted weighted average number of common shares, respectively.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted EPS:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2009
2008
Net income

$

Basic weighted average shares outstanding
Stock options and restricted stock units
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding

104

$

179
4
183

Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

$

0.58
0.57

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2009
2008
142

$

178
—
178
$

0.80
0.80

220

$

178
3
181
$

1.23
1.21

282
177
1
178

$

1.59
1.58

The computations of diluted earnings per share available to common stockholders do not include approximately 9 million stock options and stock-settled
stock appreciation rights (“SSARs”) and warrants to purchase approximately 18 million shares of the Company’s common stock related to the May 2009
issuance of the Company’s Convertible Notes (see Note 6—Long-term Debt and Borrowing Arrangements) for both the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2009 as the effect of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive to EPS. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, the
number of anti-dilutive securities included approximately 14 million and 11 million stock options and SSARs, respectively.
Dividend Payments
During each of the quarterly periods ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company paid cash dividends of $0.04 per share
($22 million in the aggregate during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and $21 million in the aggregate during the nine months ended
September 30, 2008).
10
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3.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consisted of:
As of September 30, 2009
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Unamortized Intangible Assets:
Goodwill
Trademarks
Amortized Intangible Assets:
Franchise agreements
Trademarks
Other

As of December 31, 2008
Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
Carrying
Amount

$

1,386

$

1,353

$

661

$

660

$

630
—
96
726

$

630
3
91
724

$

$

293
—
33
326

$

$

337
—
63
400

$

$

Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

$

278
2
27
307

$

$

352
1
64
417

$

As of January 1, 2008, the Company had $31 million of unamortized vacation ownership trademarks recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet including
its FairShare Plus and WorldMark trademarks. During the first quarter of 2008, the Company recorded a $28 million impairment charge due to the
Company’s initiative to rebrand FairShare Plus and WorldMark to the Wyndham brand. The remaining $3 million was reclassified to amortized trademarks
and was fully amortized and written-off as of March 31, 2009. See Note 1—Basis of Presentation for further information regarding the Company’s valuation
of its goodwill and other intangible assets.
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:
Balance at
January 1,
2009

Lodging
Vacation Exchange and Rentals
Total Company

$
$

Balance at
September 30,
2009

Foreign
Exchange

297
1,056
1,353

$

—
33
33

$

$

297
1,089
1,386

$

Amortization expense relating to amortizable intangible assets was as follows:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2009
2008

Franchise agreements
Trademarks
Other
Total (*)
(*)

$

5
—
2
7

$

$

$

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2009
2008

7
1
1
9

$

$

15
1
5
21

$

16
2
5
23

$

Included as a component of depreciation and amortization on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income.

Based on the Company’s amortizable intangible assets as of September 30, 2009, the Company expects related amortization expense as follows:
Amount
Remainder of 2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

$

11

7
26
25
24
23
23
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4.

Vacation Ownership Contract Receivables
The Company generates vacation ownership contract receivables by extending financing to the purchasers of VOIs. Current and long-term vacation
ownership contract receivables, net consisted of:
September 30,
2009
Current vacation ownership contract receivables:
Securitized
Non-securitized
Secured (*)

$

Less: Allowance for loan losses
Current vacation ownership contract receivables, net

$

Long-term vacation ownership contract receivables:
Securitized
Non-securitized
Secured (*)

$

Less: Allowance for loan losses
Long-term vacation ownership contract receivables, net
(*)

$

December 31,
2008

254
40
30
324
(34)
290

$

2,469
473
224
3,166
(338)
2,828

$

253
49
23
325
(34)
291

$

$

2,495
641
176
3,312
(349)
2,963

Such receivables collateralize the Company’s 364-day, AUD 213 million, secured, revolving foreign credit facility (see Note 6—Long-Term Debt and Borrowing Arrangements).

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company’s securitized vacation ownership contract receivables generated interest income
of $85 million and $248 million, respectively. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, such amounts were $81 million and
$238 million, respectively.
Principal payments that are contractually due on the Company’s vacation ownership contract receivables during the next twelve months are classified as
current on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. During the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the Company originated vacation
ownership contract receivables of $718 million and $1,259 million, respectively, and received principal collections of $579 million and $616 million,
respectively. The weighted average interest rate on outstanding vacation ownership contract receivables was 12.9% and 12.7% as of September 30, 2009 and
December 31, 2008, respectively.
The activity in the allowance for loan losses on vacation ownership contract receivables was as follows:
Amount
Allowance for loan losses as of January 1, 2009
Provision for loan losses
Contract receivables written-off
Allowance for loan losses as of September 30, 2009

$

$

(383)
(346)
357
(372)

In accordance with ASC 978, “Real Estate—Time-Sharing Activities” (SFAS No. 152, “Accounting for Real Estate Time-Sharing Transactions—(an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 66 and 67)”), the Company recorded the provision for loan losses of $117 million and $346 million as a reduction of
net revenues during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009, respectively, and $119 million and $314 million during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2008, respectively.
12
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5.

Inventory
Inventory consisted of:
September 30,
2009
Land held for VOI development
VOI construction in process
Completed inventory and vacation credits (*)
Total inventory
Less: Current portion
Non-current inventory
(*)

$

$

118
306
855
1,279
360
919

December 31,
2008
$

141
417
761
1,319
414
905

$

Includes estimated recoveries of $154 million and $156 million at September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively.

Inventory that the Company expects to sell within the next twelve months is classified as current on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
6.

Long-Term Debt and Borrowing Arrangements
The Company’s indebtedness consisted of:
September 30,
2009
Securitized vacation ownership debt:
Term notes
Previous bank conduit facility (a)
2008 bank conduit facility (b)
Total securitized vacation ownership debt
Less: Current portion of securitized vacation ownership debt
Long-term securitized vacation ownership debt

$

$

Long-term debt:
6.00% senior unsecured notes (due December 2016) (c)
Term loan (due July 2011)
Revolving credit facility (due July 2011) (d)
9.875% senior unsecured notes (due May 2014) (e)
3.50% convertible notes (due May 2012) (f)
Vacation ownership bank borrowings (g)
Vacation rentals capital leases
Other
Total long-term debt
Less: Current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt

$

$

December 31,
2008

1,305
114
185
1,604
291
1,313

$

797
300
21
237
309
163
139
23
1,989
176
1,813

$

$

$

1,252
417
141
1,810
294
1,516
797
300
576
—
—
159
139
13
1,984
169
1,815

(a)

Represents the outstanding balance of the Company’s previous bank conduit facility which was repaid on October 8, 2009.

(b)

Represents a 364-day, $943 million, non-recourse vacation ownership bank conduit facility, with a term through November 2009 whose capacity is reduced by $87 million of
borrowings on the Company’s previous bank conduit facility and is subject to the Company’s ability to provide additional assets to collateralize the facility. As of September 30,
2009, the total available capacity of the facility was $671 million. See Note 16—Subsequent Events for further information related to the renewal of the facility.

(c)

The balance at September 30, 2009 represents $800 million aggregate principal less $3 million of unamortized discount.

(d)

The revolving credit facility has a total capacity of $900 million, which includes availability for letters of credit. As of September 30, 2009, the Company had $30 million of letters
of credit outstanding and, as such, the total available capacity of the revolving credit facility was $849 million.

(e)

Represents senior unsecured notes issued by the Company during May 2009. Such balance represents $250 million aggregate principal less $13 million of unamortized discount.

(f)

Represents cash convertible notes issued by the Company during May 2009. Such balance includes $187 million of debt ($230 million aggregate principal less $43 million of
unamortized discount) and a liability with a fair value of $122 million related to a bifurcated conversion feature. Additionally, at September 30, 2009, the Company’s convertible
note hedge call options are recorded at their fair value of $122 million within other non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

(g)

Represents a 364-day, AUD 213 million, secured, revolving foreign credit facility, which expires in June 2010.
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2009 Debt Issuances
Special Asset Facility 2009-A, LLC. On March 13, 2009, the Company closed a term securitization transaction, Special Asset Facility 2009-A, LLC,
involving the issuance of $46 million of investment grade asset-backed notes which are secured by vacation ownership contract receivables. These
borrowings bear interest at a coupon rate of 9.0% and were issued at a price of 95% of par.
9.875% Senior Unsecured Notes. On May 18, 2009, the Company issued senior unsecured notes, with face value of $250 million and bearing interest at a
rate of 9.875%, for net proceeds of $236 million. Interest began accruing on May 18, 2009 and is payable semi-annually in arrears on May 1 and November 1
of each year, commencing on November 1, 2009. The notes will mature on May 1, 2014 and are redeemable at the Company’s option at any time, in whole or
in part, at the stated redemption prices plus accrued interest through the redemption date. These notes rank equally in right of payment with all of the
Company’s other senior unsecured indebtedness.
3.50% Convertible Notes. On May 19, 2009, the Company issued convertible notes (“Convertible Notes”) with face value of $230 million and bearing
interest at a rate of 3.50%, for net proceeds of $224 million. The Company accounted for the conversion feature as a derivative instrument under ASC 815
and bifurcated such conversion feature from the Convertible Notes for accounting purposes (“Bifurcated Conversion Feature”). The fair value of the
Bifurcated Conversion Feature on the issuance date of the Convertible Notes was recorded as original issue discount for purposes of accounting for the debt
component of the Convertible Notes. Therefore, interest expense greater than the coupon rate of 3.50% will be recognized by the Company primarily
resulting from the accretion of the discounted carrying value of the Convertible Notes to their face amount over the term of the Convertible Notes. As such,
the effective interest rate over the life of the Convertible Notes is approximately 10.7%. Interest began accruing on May 19, 2009 and is payable semiannually in arrears on May 1 and November 1 of each year, commencing on November 1, 2009. The Convertible Notes will mature on May 1, 2012. Holders
may convert their notes to cash subject to (i) certain conversion provisions determined by the market price of the Company’s common stock; (ii) specified
distributions to common shareholders; (iii) a fundamental change (as defined below); and (iv) certain time periods specified in the purchase agreement. The
Convertible Notes have an initial conversion reference rate of 78.5423 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount (equivalent to an initial
conversion price of approximately $12.73 per share of the Company’s common stock), subject to adjustment, with the principal amount and remainder
payable in cash. The Convertible Notes are not convertible into the Company’s common stock or any other securities under any circumstances.
On May 19, 2009, concurrent with the issuance of the Convertible Notes, the Company entered into convertible note hedge and warrant transactions with
certain counterparties. The Company paid $42 million to purchase cash-settled call options (“Call Options”) that are expected to reduce the Company’s
exposure to potential cash payments required to be made by the Company upon the cash conversion of the Convertible Notes. Concurrent with the purchase
of the Call Options, the Company received $11 million of proceeds from the issuance of warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock.
If the market price per share of the Company’s common stock at the time of cash conversion of any Convertible Notes is above the strike price of the Call
Options (which strike price is the same as the equivalent initial conversion price of the Convertible Notes of approximately $12.73 per share of the
Company’s common stock), such Call Options will entitle the Company to receive from the counterparties in the aggregate the same amount of cash as it
would be required to issue to the holder of the cash converted notes in excess of the principal amount thereof.
Pursuant to the warrant transactions, the Company sold to the counterparties warrants to purchase in the aggregate up to approximately 18 million shares of
the Company’s common stock. The warrants have an exercise price of $20.16 (which represents a premium of approximately 90% over the Company’s
closing price per share on May 13, 2009 of $10.61) and are expected to be net share settled, meaning that the Company will issue a number of shares per
warrant corresponding to the difference between the Company’s share price at each warrant expiration date and the exercise price of the warrant. The
warrants may not be exercised prior to the maturity of the Convertible Notes.
The purchase of Call Options and the sale of warrants are separate contracts entered into by the Company, are not part of the Convertible Notes and do not
affect the rights of holders under the Convertible Notes. Holders of the Convertible Notes will not have any rights with respect to the purchased Call Options
or the sold warrants. The Call Options meet the definition of derivatives under ASC 815. As such, the instruments are marked to market each period. In
addition, the derivative liability associated with the Bifurcated Conversion Feature is also marked to market each period. At September 30, 2009, the
$309 million Convertible Notes consist of $187 million of debt ($230 million face amount, net of $43 million of unamortized discount) and a derivative
liability with a fair value of $122 million related to the Bifurcated Conversion Feature. The Call Options are derivative assets recorded at their fair value of
$122 million within other non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at September 30, 2009. The warrants
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meet the definition of derivatives under ASC 815; however, because these instruments have been determined to be indexed to the Company’s own stock,
their issuance has been recorded in stockholders’ equity in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet and is not subject to the fair value provisions of ASC
815.
Sierra Timeshare 2009-1 Receivables Funding, LLC. On May 28, 2009, the Company closed a series of term notes payable, Sierra Timeshare 2009-1
Receivables Funding, LLC, in the initial principal amount of $225 million. These borrowings bear interest at a coupon rate of 9.8% and are secured by
vacation ownership contract receivables. As of September 30, 2009, the Company has $167 million of outstanding borrowings under these term notes.
Sierra Timeshare 2009-B Receivables Funding, LLC. On June 1, 2009, the Company closed a term securitization transaction, Sierra Timeshare 2009-B
Receivables Funding, LLC, in the initial principal amount of $50 million. These borrowings bear interest at a coupon rate of 9.0% and are secured by
vacation ownership contract receivables. As of September 30, 2009, the Company had $38 million of outstanding borrowings under these term notes.
Vacation Ownership Bank Borrowings. On June 24, 2009, the Company closed on a 364-day, AUD 193 million, secured, revolving foreign credit facility
with a term through June 2010. On July 7, 2009, an additional bank joined the Company’s 364-day, secured, revolving foreign credit facility, which provided
an additional AUD 20 million of capacity, increasing the total capacity of the facility to AUD 213 million. This facility is used to support the Company’s
vacation ownership operations in the South Pacific and bears interest at Australian BBSY plus a spread. The AUD 213 million facility has an advance rate for
new borrowings of approximately 70%. These secured borrowings are collateralized by $254 million of underlying gross vacation ownership contract
receivables as of September 30, 2009. The capacity of this facility is subject to maintaining sufficient assets to collateralize these secured obligations.
Sierra Timeshare 2009-3 Receivables Funding, LLC. On September 24, 2009, the Company closed a series of term notes payable, Sierra Timeshare 2009-3
Receivables Funding, LLC, in the initial principal amount of $175 million. These borrowings bear interest at a coupon rate of 7.62% and are secured by
vacation ownership contract receivables. As of September 30, 2009, the Company had $175 million of outstanding borrowings under these term notes.
Covenants
The revolving credit facility and unsecured term loan are subject to covenants including the maintenance of specific financial ratios. The financial ratio
covenants consist of a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of at least 3.0 to 1.0 as of the measurement date and a maximum consolidated leverage
ratio not to exceed 3.5 to 1.0 on the measurement date. The consolidated interest coverage ratio is calculated by dividing Consolidated EBITDA (as defined
in the credit agreement) by Consolidated Interest Expense (as defined in the credit agreement), both as measured on a trailing 12 month basis preceding the
measurement date. As of September 30, 2009, the Company’s interest coverage ratio was 23.8 times. Consolidated Interest Expense excludes, among other
things, interest expense on any Securitization Indebtedness (as defined in the credit agreement). The consolidated leverage ratio is calculated by dividing
Consolidated Total Indebtedness (as defined in the credit agreement and which excludes, among other things, Securitization Indebtedness) as of the
measurement date by Consolidated EBITDA as measured on a trailing 12 month basis preceding the measurement date. As of September 30, 2009, the
Company’s leverage ratio was 2.4 times. Covenants in these credit facilities also include limitations on indebtedness of material subsidiaries; liens; mergers,
consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions; sale of all or substantially all assets; and sale and leaseback transactions. Events of default in these credit
facilities include failure to pay interest, principal and fees when due; breach of covenants; acceleration of or failure to pay other debt in excess of $50 million
(excluding securitization indebtedness); insolvency matters; and a change of control.
The 6.00% senior unsecured notes and 9.875% senior unsecured notes contain various covenants including limitations on liens, limitations on potential sale
and leaseback transactions and change of control restrictions. In addition, there are limitations on mergers, consolidations and potential sale of all or
substantially all of the Company’s assets. Events of default in the notes include failure to pay interest and principal when due, breach of a covenant or
warranty, acceleration of other debt in excess of $50 million and insolvency matters. The Convertible Notes do not contain affirmative or negative covenants;
however, the limitations on mergers, consolidations and potential sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets and the events of default for the
Company’s senior unsecured notes are applicable to such notes. Holders of the Convertible Notes have the right to require the Company to repurchase the
Convertible Notes at 100% of principal plus accrued and unpaid interest in the event of a fundamental change, defined to include, among other things, a
change of control, certain recapitalizations and if the Company’s common stock is no longer listed on a national securities exchange.
The vacation ownership secured bank facility contains covenants including a consumer loan coverage ratio that requires that the aggregate principal amount
of consumer loans that are current on payments must exceed 75% of the aggregate principal amount of all consumer loans in the applicable loan portfolio. If
the aggregate principal amount of
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current consumer loans falls below this threshold, the Company must pay the bank syndicate cash to cover the shortfall. This ratio is also used to set the
advance rate under the facility. The facility contains other typical restrictions and covenants including limitations on mergers, partnerships and certain asset
sales.
As of September 30, 2009, the Company was in compliance with all of the covenants described above including the required financial ratios.
Each of the Company’s non-recourse, securitized note borrowings contains various triggers relating to the performance of the applicable loan pools. For
example, if the vacation ownership contract receivables pool that collateralizes one of the Company’s securitization notes fails to perform within the
parameters established by the contractual triggers (such as higher default or delinquency rates), there are provisions pursuant to which the cash flows for that
pool will be maintained in the securitization as extra collateral for the note holders or applied to amortize the outstanding principal held by the noteholders.
As of September 30, 2009, all of the Company’s securitized pools were in compliance with applicable triggers.
Maturities and Capacity
The Company’s outstanding debt as of September 30, 2009 matures as follows:
Securitized
Vacation
Ownership
Debt
Within 1 year
Between 1 and 2 years
Between 2 and 3 years
Between 3 and 4 years
Between 4 and 5 years
Thereafter

$

Other

291
380
190
207
204
332
1,604

$

$

Total

176
345
324
11
249
884
1,989

$

$

$

467
725
514
218
453
1,216
3,593

As debt maturities of the securitized vacation ownership debt are based on the contractual payment terms of the underlying vacation ownership contract
receivables, actual maturities may differ as a result of prepayments by the vacation ownership contract receivable obligors.
As of September 30, 2009, available capacity under the Company’s borrowing arrangements was as follows:
Total
Capacity
Securitized vacation ownership debt:
Term notes
Previous bank conduit facility
2008 bank conduit facility
Total securitized vacation ownership debt (a)

$

$

Long-term debt:
6.00% senior unsecured notes (due December 2016)
Term loan (due July 2011)
Revolving credit facility (due July 2011) (b)
9.875% senior unsecured notes (due May 2014)
3.50% convertible notes (due May 2012)
Vacation ownership bank borrowings (c)
Vacation rentals capital leases (d)
Other
Total long-term debt

$

$

Outstanding
Borrowings

1,305
114
856
2,275

$

797
300
900
237
309
188
139
55
2,925

$

$

$

Available
Capacity

1,305
114
185
1,604

$

797
300
21
237
309
163
139
23
1,989

$

$

Less: Issuance of letters of credit (b)
$
(a)

—
—
671
671
—
—
879
—
—
25
—
32
936
30
906

These outstanding borrowings are collateralized by $2,947 million of underlying gross vacation ownership contract receivables and related assets. The capacity of the Company’s
2008 bank conduit facility of $943 million is reduced by $87 million of borrowings on the Company’s previous bank conduit facility. Such amount subsequently became available
as capacity for the Company’s 2008 bank conduit facility as the outstanding balance on the Company’s previous bank conduit facility was repaid on October 8, 2009. The capacity
of this facility is subject to the Company’s ability to provide additional assets to collateralize additional securitized borrowings.
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(b)

The capacity under the Company’s revolving credit facility includes availability for letters of credit. As of September 30, 2009, the available capacity of $879 million was further
reduced by $30 million for the issuance of letters of credit.

(c)

These borrowings are collateralized by $254 million of underlying gross vacation ownership contract receivables. The capacity of this facility is subject to maintaining sufficient
assets to collateralize these secured obligations.

(d)

These leases are recorded as capital lease obligations with corresponding assets classified within property and equipment on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Interest Expense
Interest expense incurred in connection with the Company’s other debt was $37 million and $87 million during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2009, respectively, and $26 million and $74 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, respectively, and is
recorded within interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income. Cash paid related to such interest expense was $51 million and $63 million
during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Interest expense is partially offset on the Consolidated Statements of Income by capitalized interest of $3 million and $8 million during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2009, respectively, and $5 million and $15 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, respectively.
Cash paid related to consumer financing interest expense was $83 million and $86 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
7.

Fair Value
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted ASC 820, which requires additional disclosures about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value. The following table presents information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of September 30, 2009, and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized by the Company to determine such fair
values. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:
Level 1: Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
Level 2: Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and modelderived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value driver is observable.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs used when little or no market data is available.
In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the level in the fair value
hierarchy within which the fair value measurement falls has been determined based on the lowest level input (closest to Level 3) that is significant to the fair
value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and
considers factors specific to the asset or liability.
Fair Value Measure on a
Recurring Basis
Significant
Other
Significant
Observable
Unobservable
Inputs
Inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)

As of
September 30,
2009
Assets:
Derivative instruments (a)
Securities available-for-sale (b)
Total assets

$

Liabilities:
Derivative instruments (c)

$

$

135
5
140

$

$

13
—
13

$

122
5
127

$

(191)

$

(69)

$

(122)

(a)

Included in other current assets and other non-current assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.

(b)

Included in other non-current assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.

(c)

Included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities, other non-current liabilities and long-term debt on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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The Company’s derivative instruments primarily consist of the Call Options and Bifurcated Conversion Feature related to the Convertible Notes, payfixed/receive-variable interest rate swaps, interest rate caps, foreign exchange forward contracts and foreign exchange average rate forward contracts (see
Note 8 — Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities for more detail). For assets and liabilities that are measured using quoted prices in active markets,
the fair value is the published market price per unit multiplied by the number of units held without consideration of transaction costs. Assets and liabilities
that are measured using other significant observable inputs are valued by reference to similar assets and liabilities. For these items, a significant portion of
fair value is derived by reference to quoted prices of similar assets and liabilities in active markets. For assets and liabilities that are measured using
significant unobservable inputs, fair value is derived using a fair value model, such as a discounted cash flow model.
The following table presents additional information about financial assets which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis for which the Company has
utilized Level 3 inputs to determine fair value as of September 30, 2009:
Fair Value Measurements Using
Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
Derivative
LiabilityDerivative
Bifurcated
Securities
Asset-Call
Conversion
Available-ForOptions
Feature
Sale
Balance at January 1, 2009
Issuance of Convertible Notes
Change in fair value
Balance at September 30, 2009

$

—
42
80
122

$

$

—
(42)
(80)
(122)

$

$

5
—
—
5

$

The fair value of financial instruments is generally determined by reference to market values resulting from trading on a national securities exchange or in an
over-the-counter market. In cases where quoted market prices are not available, fair value is based on estimates using present value or other valuation
techniques, as appropriate. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses and
other current liabilities approximate fair value due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. The carrying amounts and estimated fair values
of all other financial instruments are as follows:
September 30, 2009
Estimated
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value
Assets
Vacation ownership contract receivables, net
Debt
Total debt (a)
Derivatives
Foreign exchange forwards (b)
Assets
Liabilities
Interest rate swaps and caps (b)
Assets
Liabilities
Convertible Notes related Call Options
Assets
(a)
(b)

$

3,118
3,593

As of September 30, 2009, includes the Bifurcated Feature liability.
Instruments are in net loss positions as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008.
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$

2,874
3,391

December 31, 2008
Estimated
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value
$

3,254
3,794

$

2,666
2,759

6
(13)

6
(13)

10
(11)

10
(11)

7
(56)

7
(56)

2
(76)

2
(76)

122

122

—

—
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8.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
Foreign Currency Risk
The Company uses foreign currency forward contracts to manage its exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates associated with its foreign
currency denominated receivables, forecasted earnings of foreign subsidiaries and forecasted foreign currency denominated vendor costs. The Company
primarily hedges its foreign currency exposure to the British pound and Euro. The forward contracts utilized by the Company do not qualify for hedge
accounting treatment under ASC 815. The fluctuations in the value of these forward contracts do, however, largely offset the impact of changes in the value
of the underlying risk that they are intended to hedge. The impact of these forward contracts was not material to the Company’s results of operations,
financial position or cash flows during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008. The pre-tax amount of gains or losses reclassified
from other comprehensive income to earnings resulting from ineffectiveness or from excluding a component of the forward contracts’ gain or loss from the
effectiveness calculation for cash flow hedges during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, was not material. The amount of gains
or losses the Company expects to reclassify from other comprehensive income to earnings over the next 12 months is not material.
Interest Rate Risk
The debt used to finance much of the Company’s operations is also exposed to interest rate fluctuations. The Company uses various hedging strategies and
derivative financial instruments to create a desired mix of fixed and floating rate assets and liabilities. Derivative instruments currently used in these hedging
strategies include swaps and interest rate caps.
The derivatives used to manage the risk associated with the Company’s floating rate debt include freestanding derivatives and derivatives designated as cash
flow hedges. In connection with its qualifying cash flow hedges, the Company recorded a net pre-tax gain of $1 million and $3 million during the three
months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and a net pre-tax gain of $21 million and $5 million during the nine months ended September 30,
2009 and 2008, respectively, to other comprehensive income. The pre-tax amount of gains or losses reclassified from other comprehensive income to
earnings resulting from ineffectiveness or from excluding a component of the derivatives’ gain or loss from the effectiveness calculation for cash flow hedges
was insignificant during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The amount of losses that the Company expects to
reclassify from other comprehensive income to earnings during the next 12 months is not material. The freestanding derivatives had an immaterial impact on
the Company’s results of operations, financial position and cash flows during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
The following table summarizes information regarding the Company’s derivative instruments as of September 30, 2009:
Assets
Balance Sheet Location

Fair Value

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate contracts
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate contracts
Foreign exchange contracts
Convertible Notes related Call Options (*)
Bifurcated Conversion Feature (*)
Total derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments
(*)

Other non-current assets
Other current assets
Other non-current assets

$

$

See Note 6—Long-term Debt and Borrowing Arrangements for further detail.
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7
6
122
—
135

Liabilities
Balance Sheet Location

Fair Value

Other non-current liabilities

$

45

Other non-current liabilities
Accrued exp & other current liabs.

$

11
13
—
122

$

146

Long-term debt
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The following table summarizes information regarding the Company’s derivative instruments as of December 31, 2008:
Assets
Balance Sheet Location

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate contracts
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate contracts
Foreign exchange contracts
Total derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments

9.

Liabilities
Balance Sheet Location

Fair Value

Other non-current assets
Other current assets

$

2
10

$

12

Fair Value

Other non-current liabilities

$

66

Other non-current liabilities
Accrued exp & other current liabs.

$

10
11

$
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Income Taxes
The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various states and foreign jurisdictions. With few
exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2003.
During the first quarter of 2007, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) opened an examination for Cendant Corporation’s (“Cendant” or “former Parent”)
taxable years 2003 through 2006 during which the Company was included in Cendant’s tax returns. As of September 30, 2009, the Company’s accrual for
this outstanding Cendant contingent liability was $273 million. See Note 15—Separation Adjustments and Transactions with Former Parent and Subsidiaries
for detailed information on the Company’s contingent tax liabilities.
The Company made cash income tax payments, net of refunds, of $81 million and $65 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. Such payments exclude income tax related payments made to former Parent.

10.

Commitments and Contingencies
The Company is involved in claims, legal proceedings and governmental inquiries related to the Company’s business. See Part II, Item 1, “Legal
Proceedings” for a description of claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of the Company’s business. See also Note 15—Separation
Adjustments and Transactions with Former Parent and Subsidiaries regarding contingent litigation liabilities resulting from the Company’s separation from
its former Parent (“Separation”).
The Company believes that it has adequately accrued for such matters with reserves of $13 million at September 30, 2009. Such amount is exclusive of
matters relating to the Separation. For matters not requiring accrual, the Company believes that such matters will not have a material adverse effect on its
results of operations, financial position or cash flows based on information currently available. However, litigation is inherently unpredictable and, although
the Company believes that its accruals are adequate and/or that it has valid defenses in these matters, unfavorable resolutions could occur. As such, an
adverse outcome from such unresolved proceedings for which claims are awarded in excess of the amounts accrued, if any, could be material to the Company
with respect to earnings or cash flows in any given reporting period. However, the Company does not believe that the impact of such unresolved litigation
should result in a material liability to the Company in relation to its consolidated financial position or liquidity.

11.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
The after-tax components of accumulated other comprehensive income are as follows:
Unrealized
Gains/(Losses)
on Cash Flow
Hedges, Net

Currency
Translation
Adjustments
Balance, January 1, 2009, net of tax benefit of $72
Current period change
Balance, September 30, 2009, net of tax benefit of $35

$

141
39
180

$

$
$

(45) $
13
(32) $

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

Pension
Liability
Adjustment
2
—
2

$
$

98
52
150

Foreign currency translation adjustments exclude income taxes related to investments in foreign subsidiaries where the Company intends to reinvest the
undistributed earnings indefinitely in those foreign operations.
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12.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has a stock-based compensation plan available to grant non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, SSARs, restricted stock,
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and other stock or cash-based awards to key employees, non-employee directors, advisors and consultants. Under the
Wyndham Worldwide Corporation 2006 Equity and Incentive Plan, which was amended and restated as a result of shareholders’ approval at the May 12,
2009 annual meeting of shareholders, a maximum of 36.7 million shares of common stock may be awarded. As of September 30, 2009, 12.4 million shares
remained available.
Incentive Equity Awards Granted by the Company
The activity related to incentive equity awards granted by the Company for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 consisted of the following:
RSUs

SSARs
Weighted
Average
Grant Price

Number
of RSUs
Balance at January 1, 2009
Granted
Vested/exercised
Canceled
Balance at September 30, 2009 (a)
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

4.1
6.5(b)
(1.0)
(0.8)
8.8 (c)

$

25.34
4.07
28.22
20.98
9.56

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Number
of SSARs
1.7
0.5 (b)
—
—
2.2 (d)

$

27.40
3.69
—
—
22.04

Aggregate unrecognized compensation expense related to SSARs and RSUs was $71 million as of September 30, 2009 which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 2.2 years.
Primarily represents awards granted by the Company on February 27, 2009.
Approximately 8.2 million RSUs outstanding at September 30, 2009 are expected to vest over time.
Approximately 830,000 of the 2.2 million SSARs were exercisable at September 30, 2009. The Company assumes that a majority of the unvested SSARs are expected to vest over
time. SSARs outstanding at September 30, 2009 had an intrinsic value of $7.3 million and have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.6 years.

On February 27, 2009, the Company approved its annual grant of incentive equity awards totaling $24 million to the Company’s key employees and senior
officers in the form of RSUs and SSARs. Such awards will vest ratably over a period of three years. On May 12, 2009, July 23, 2009 and September 8, 2009,
the Company approved grants of incentive equity awards totaling $3 million to the Company’s newly hired key employees and senior officers in the form of
RSUs. A portion of such awards will vest over a period of three years and the remaining portion will vest ratably over a period of four years.
The fair value of SSARs granted by the Company on February 27, 2009 was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with
the weighted average assumptions outlined in the table below. Expected volatility is based on both historical and implied volatilities of (i) the Company’s
stock and (ii) the stock of comparable companies over the estimated expected life of the SSARs. The expected life represents the period of time the SSARs
are expected to be outstanding and is based on the “simplified method,” as defined in Staff Accounting Bulletin 110. The risk free interest rate is based on
yields on U.S. Treasury strips with a maturity similar to the estimated expected life of the SSARs. The projected dividend yield was based on the Company’s
anticipated annual dividend divided by the twelve-month target price of the Company’s stock on the date of the grant.
SSARs Issued on
February 27, 2009
Grant date fair value
Grant date strike price
Expected volatility
Expected life
Risk free interest rate
Projected dividend yield

$
$
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2.02
3.69
81.0%
4.00 yrs.
1.95%
1.60%
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense
The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of $9 million and $28 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009,
respectively, and $11 million and $28 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, respectively, related to the incentive equity
awards granted by the Company. The Company recognized $4 million and $7 million of a net tax benefit during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2009, respectively, for stock-based compensation arrangements on the Consolidated Statements of Income. The tax benefits were $4 million
and $11 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, respectively. As of January 1, 2009, the Company had a $4 million pool of
excess tax benefits available to absorb tax deficiencies (“APIC Pool”). During March 2009, the Company utilized its APIC Pool related to the vesting of
RSUs, which reduced the balance to $0. During May 2009, the Company recorded a $4 million charge to its provision for income taxes related to additional
vesting of RSUs.
Incentive Equity Awards Conversion
Prior to August 1, 2006, all employee stock awards (stock options and RSUs) were granted by Cendant. At the time of Separation, a portion of Cendant’s
outstanding equity awards were converted into equity awards of the Company at a ratio of one share of the Company’s common stock for every five shares of
Cendant’s common stock. As a result, the Company issued approximately 2 million RSUs and approximately 24 million stock options upon completion of
the conversion of existing Cendant equity awards into Wyndham equity awards. As of September 30, 2009, there were 7.8 million converted stock options
and no converted RSUs outstanding.
As of September 30, 2009, the 7.8 million converted stock options outstanding had a weighted average exercise price of $33.99 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 1.4 years. All 7.8 million options were exercisable, however, zero were “in the money” and, as such, the intrinsic value of the
outstanding converted stock options was zero.
13.

Segment Information
The reportable segments presented below represent the Company’s operating segments for which separate financial information is available and which is
utilized on a regular basis by its chief operating decision maker to assess performance and to allocate resources. In identifying its reportable segments, the
Company also considers the nature of services provided by its operating segments. Management evaluates the operating results of each of its reportable
segments based upon net revenues and “EBITDA,” which is defined as net income before depreciation and amortization, interest expense (excluding
consumer financing interest), interest income (excluding consumer financing interest) and income taxes, each of which is presented on the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company’s presentation of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures used by other companies.
The reconciliation of EBITDA to income before income taxes is noted below:
2009
Net
Revenues
Lodging
Vacation Exchange and Rentals
Vacation Ownership
Total Reportable Segments
Corporate and Other (a)(b)
Total Company

$

183
327
508
1,018
(2)
1,016

$

Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before income taxes
(a)

Three Months Ended September 30,
2008
Net
EBITDA
Revenues
EBITDA (c)

$

$

Includes the elimination of transactions between segments.
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58
107
104
269
(15)
254
46
34
(1)
175

$

$

213
354
661
1,228
(2)
1,226

$

$

72
105
128
305
(11)
294
47
21
(2)
228
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(b)
(c)

Includes $2 million and $1 million of a net expense related to the resolution of and adjustment to certain contingent liabilities and assets during the three months ended
September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and $13 million and $10 million of corporate costs during the three months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Includes restructuring costs of $4 million and $2 million for Lodging and Vacation Exchange and Rentals, respectively, during the three months ended September 30, 2008.

The reconciliation of EBITDA to income before income taxes is noted below:
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2009
Net
Revenues
Lodging
Vacation Exchange and Rentals
Vacation Ownership
Total Reportable Segments
Corporate and Other (a)(b)
Total Company

$

EBITDA (c)

511
894
1,437
2,842
(5)
2,837

$

$

Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before income taxes
(a)
(b)
(c)

(d)

14.

2008
Net
Revenues

143
240
255
638
(55)
583

$

EBITDA (c)

583
1,009
1,786
3,378
(8)
3,370

$

$

134
79
(5)
375

$

179
252
248 (d)
679
(34)
645
137
59
(8)
457

$

Includes the elimination of transactions between segments.
Includes $6 million of a net expense and $4 million of a net benefit related to the resolution of and adjustment to certain contingent liabilities and assets and $49 million and
$38 million of corporate costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Includes restructuring costs of $3 million, $6 million, $36 million and $1 million for Lodging, Vacation Exchange and Rentals, Vacation Ownership and Corporate and Other,
respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and $4 million and $2 million for Lodging and Vacation Exchange and Rentals, respectively, for the nine months
ended September 30, 2008.
Includes an impairment charge of $28 million due to the Company’s initiative to rebrand two of its vacation ownership trademarks to the Wyndham brand.

Restructuring
During 2008, the Company committed to various strategic realignment initiatives targeted principally at reducing costs, enhancing organizational efficiency
and consolidating and rationalizing existing processes and facilities. During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company recorded $46 million
of incremental restructuring costs and reduced its liability with $45 million in cash payments and $15 million of other non-cash items. The remaining liability
of $26 million is expected to be paid in cash; $5 million of personnel-related by September 2010 and $21 million of primarily facility-related by September
2017. During both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008, the Company recorded $6 million of restructuring costs ($4 million at Lodging and
$2 million at Vacation Exchange and Rentals), of which $1 million was paid in cash.
Total restructuring costs by segment for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 are as follows:
Personnel
Related (a)

Lodging
Vacation Exchange and Rentals
Vacation Ownership
Corporate
Total
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

$

$

Facility
Related (b)

3
5
1
1
10

$

Asset Write-off’s/
Impairments (c)

—
1
20
—
21

$

$

$

Contract
Termination (d)

—
—
14
—
14

$

$

—
—
1
—
1

Total

$

$

3
6
36
1
46

Represents severance benefits resulting from reductions of approximately 370 in staff. The Company formally communicated the termination of employment to all 370 employees,
representing a wide range of employee groups. As of September 30, 2009, the Company had terminated all of these employees.
Primarily related to the termination of leases of certain sales offices.
Primarily related to the write-off of assets from sales office closures and cancelled development projects.
Primarily represents costs incurred in connection with the termination of a property development contract.
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The activity related to the restructuring costs is summarized by category as follows:
Liability as of
January 1,
2009

Personnel-Related
Facility-Related
Asset Impairments
Contract Terminations

$

$
15.

Costs
Recognized

27
13
—
—
40

$

Cash
Payments

10
21
14
1
46

$

$

$

Liability as of
September 30,
2009

Other
Non-cash

(32) $
(13)
—
—
(45) $

— $
(1)
(14)
—
(15) $

5
20
—
1
26

Separation Adjustments and Transactions with Former Parent and Subsidiaries
Pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement, upon the distribution of the Company’s common stock to Cendant shareholders, the Company
entered into certain guarantee commitments with Cendant (pursuant to the assumption of certain liabilities and the obligation to indemnify Cendant and
Cendant’s former real estate services (“Realogy”) and travel distribution services (“Travelport”) for such liabilities) and guarantee commitments related to
deferred compensation arrangements with each of Cendant and Realogy. These guarantee arrangements primarily relate to certain contingent litigation
liabilities, contingent tax liabilities, and Cendant contingent and other corporate liabilities, of which the Company assumed and is responsible for 37.5%
while Realogy is responsible for the remaining 62.5%. The amount of liabilities which were assumed by the Company in connection with the Separation was
$310 million and $343 million at September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively. These amounts were comprised of certain Cendant corporate
liabilities which were recorded on the books of Cendant as well as additional liabilities which were established for guarantees issued at the date of Separation
related to certain unresolved contingent matters and certain others that could arise during the guarantee period. Regarding the guarantees, if any of the
companies responsible for all or a portion of such liabilities were to default in its payment of costs or expenses related to any such liability, the Company
would be responsible for a portion of the defaulting party or parties’ obligation. The Company also provided a default guarantee related to certain deferred
compensation arrangements related to certain current and former senior officers and directors of Cendant, Realogy and Travelport. These arrangements,
which are discussed in more detail below, have been valued upon the Separation in accordance with ASC 460, “Guarantees” (FASB Interpretation No. 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others”) and recorded as liabilities
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. To the extent such recorded liabilities are not adequate to cover the ultimate payment amounts, such excess will be
reflected as an expense to the results of operations in future periods.
As a result of the sale of Realogy on April 10, 2007, Realogy’s senior debt credit rating was downgraded to below investment grade. Under the Separation
Agreement, if Realogy experienced such a change of control and suffered such a ratings downgrade, it was required to post a letter of credit in an amount
acceptable to the Company and Avis Budget Group to satisfy the fair value of Realogy’s indemnification obligations for the Cendant legacy contingent
liabilities in the event Realogy does not otherwise satisfy such obligations to the extent they become due. On April 26, 2007, Realogy posted a $500 million
irrevocable standby letter of credit from a major commercial bank in favor of Avis Budget Group and upon which demand may be made if Realogy does not
otherwise satisfy its obligations for its share of the Cendant legacy contingent liabilities. The letter of credit can be adjusted from time to time based upon the
outstanding contingent liabilities and has an expiration date of September 2013, subject to renewal and certain provisions. As such, on August 11, 2009, the
letter of credit was reduced to $446 million. The issuance of this letter of credit does not relieve or limit Realogy’s obligations for these liabilities.
The $310 million of Separation related liabilities is comprised of $5 million for litigation matters, $273 million for tax liabilities, $24 million for liabilities of
previously sold businesses of Cendant, $6 million for other contingent and corporate liabilities and $2 million of liabilities where the calculated ASC 460
guarantee amount exceeded the ASC 450 (SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”) liability assumed at the date of Separation. In connection with these
liabilities, $42 million are recorded in current due to former Parent and subsidiaries and $266 million are recorded in long-term due to former Parent and
subsidiaries at September 30, 2009 on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company is indemnifying Cendant for these contingent liabilities and therefore
any payments would be made to the third party through the former Parent. The $2 million relating to the ASC 460 guarantees is recorded in other current
liabilities at September 30, 2009 on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The actual timing of payments relating to these liabilities is dependent on a variety of
factors beyond our control. See Management’s Discussion and Analysis—Contractual Obligations for the estimated timing of such payments. In addition, at
September 30, 2009, the Company has $4 million of receivables due from former Parent and subsidiaries primarily relating to income taxes,
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which is recorded in other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Such receivables totaled $3 million at December 31, 2008.
Following is a discussion of the liabilities on which the Company issued guarantees.
·

Contingent litigation liabilities The Company assumed 37.5% of liabilities for certain litigation relating to, arising out of or resulting from certain
lawsuits in which Cendant is named as the defendant. The indemnification obligation will continue until the underlying lawsuits are resolved. The
Company will indemnify Cendant to the extent that Cendant is required to make payments related to any of the underlying lawsuits. As the
indemnification obligation relates to matters in various stages of litigation, the maximum exposure cannot be quantified. Due to the inherently
uncertain nature of the litigation process, the timing of payments related to these liabilities cannot be reasonably predicted, but is expected to occur
over several years. Since the Separation, Cendant settled a majority of these lawsuits and the Company assumed a portion of the related
indemnification obligations. As discussed above, for each settlement, the Company paid 37.5% of the aggregate settlement amount to Cendant. The
Company’s payment obligations under the settlements were greater or less than the Company’s accruals, depending on the matter. On September 7,
2007, Cendant received an adverse ruling in a litigation matter for which the Company retained a 37.5% indemnification obligation. The judgment
on the adverse ruling was entered on May 16, 2008. On May 23, 2008, Cendant filed an appeal of the judgment and, on July 1, 2009, an order was
entered denying the appeal. As a result of the denial of the appeal, Realogy and the Company determined to pay the judgment. On July 23, 2009,
the Company paid its portion of the aforementioned judgment ($37 million). Although the judgment for the underlying liability for this matter has
been paid, the phase of the litigation involving the determination of fees owed the plaintiffs’ attorneys remains pending. Similar to the contingent
liability, the Company is responsible for 37.5% of any attorneys’ fees payable. As a result of settlements and payments to Cendant, as well as other
reductions and accruals for developments in active litigation matters, the Company’s aggregate accrual for outstanding Cendant contingent
litigation liabilities was $5 million at September 30, 2009.

·

Contingent tax liabilities Prior to the Separation, the Company was included in the consolidated federal and state income tax returns of Cendant
through the Separation date for the 2006 period then ended. The Company is generally liable for 37.5% of certain contingent tax liabilities. In
addition, each of the Company, Cendant and Realogy may be responsible for 100% of certain of Cendant’s tax liabilities that will provide the
responsible party with a future, offsetting tax benefit. The Company will pay to Cendant the amount of taxes allocated pursuant to the Tax Sharing
Agreement, as amended during the third quarter of 2008, for the payment of certain taxes. As a result of the amendment to the Tax Sharing
Agreement, the Company recorded a gross up of its contingent tax liability and has a corresponding deferred tax asset of $32 million as of
September 30, 2009.
During the first quarter of 2007, the IRS opened an examination for Cendant’s taxable years 2003 through 2006 during which the Company was
included in Cendant’s tax returns. As of September 30, 2009, the Company’s accrual for outstanding Cendant contingent tax liabilities was
$273 million. This liability will remain outstanding until tax audits related to taxable years 2003 through 2006 are completed or the statutes of
limitations governing such tax years have passed. Balances due to Cendant for these pre-Separation tax returns and related tax attributes were
estimated as of December 31, 2006 and have since been adjusted in connection with the filing of the pre-Separation tax returns. These balances will
again be adjusted after the ultimate settlement of the related tax audits of these periods. The Company’s maximum exposure cannot be quantified
as tax regulations are subject to interpretation and the outcome of tax audits or litigation is inherently uncertain.

·

Cendant contingent and other corporate liabilities The Company has assumed 37.5% of corporate liabilities of Cendant including liabilities
relating to (i) Cendant’s terminated or divested businesses; (ii) liabilities relating to the Travelport sale, if any; and (iii) generally any actions with
respect to the Separation plan or the distributions brought by any third party. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss cannot be quantified as
this guarantee relates primarily to future claims that may be made against Cendant. The Company assessed the probability and amount of potential
liability related to this guarantee based on the extent and nature of historical experience.

·

Guarantee related to deferred compensation arrangements In the event that Cendant, Realogy and/or Travelport are not able to meet certain
deferred compensation obligations under specified plans for certain current and former officers and directors because of bankruptcy or insolvency,
the Company has guaranteed such obligations (to the extent relating to amounts deferred in respect of 2005 and earlier). This guarantee will remain
outstanding until such deferred compensation balances are distributed to the respective officers and directors. The maximum exposure cannot be
quantified as the guarantee, in part, is related to the value of deferred investments as of the date of the requested distribution.
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16.

Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through November 5, 2009, the date on which the financial statements were issued.
Dividend Declaration
On October 22, 2009, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.04 per share payable December 10, 2009 to shareholders of record as of
November 24, 2009.
Securitization Term Deal
On October 7, 2009, the Company closed a series of term notes payable, Sierra Timeshare 2009-2 Receivables Funding, LLC, in the initial principal amount
of $175 million. These borrowings bear interest at a coupon rate of 4.52% and are secured by vacation ownership contract receivables.
Securitized Conduit Facilities
On October 8, 2009, the Company repaid the outstanding borrowings on its previous bank conduit facility.
On October 23, 2009, the Company renewed its 364-day, non-recourse, securitized vacation ownership bank conduit facility with a term through October
2010. This facility bears interest at variable commercial paper rates plus a spread and its capacity was reduced from $943 million to $600 million. At the time
of closing on October 23, 2009, the $600 million bank conduit facility had available capacity of approximately $430 million.
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Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report includes “forward-looking” statements, as that term is defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission in its rules, regulations and releases.
Forward-looking statements are any statements other than statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our expectations, beliefs, hopes, intentions
or strategies regarding the future. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “may,” “expects,” “should,”
“believes,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” or other words of similar meaning. Forward-looking statements are subject to
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in, or implied by, the forward-looking statements. Factors that
might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, general economic conditions, our financial and business prospects, our capital requirements, our
financing prospects, our relationships with associates and those disclosed as risks under “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A of this Report. We caution readers that
any such statements are based on currently available operational, financial and competitive information, and they should not place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s opinion only as of the date on which they were made. Except as required by law, we disclaim any
obligation to review or update these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances as they occur.
BUSINESS AND OVERVIEW
We are a global provider of hospitality products and services and operate our business in the following three segments:
·

Lodging—franchises hotels in the upscale, midscale, economy and extended stay segments of the lodging industry and provides property
management services to owners of our luxury, upscale and midscale hotels.

·

Vacation Exchange and Rentals—provides vacation exchange products and services to owners of intervals of vacation ownership interests
(“VOIs”) and markets vacation rental properties primarily on behalf of independent owners.

·

Vacation Ownership—develops, markets and sells VOIs to individual consumers, provides consumer financing in connection with the sale of
VOIs and provides property management services at resorts.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Discussed below are our key operating statistics, consolidated results of operations and the results of operations for each of our reportable segments. The
reportable segments presented below represent our operating segments for which separate financial information is available and which is utilized on a regular
basis by our chief operating decision maker to assess performance and to allocate resources. In identifying our reportable segments, we also consider the nature of
services provided by our operating segments. Management evaluates the operating results of each of our reportable segments based upon net revenues and
EBITDA. Our presentation of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures used by other companies.
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OPERATING STATISTICS
The following table presents our operating statistics for the three months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008. See Results of Operations section for a discussion
as to how these operating statistics affected our business for the periods presented.
Three Months Ended September 30,
2009
2008
% Change
Lodging
Number of rooms (a)
RevPAR (b)
Vacation Exchange and Rentals
Average number of members (000s) (c)
Annual dues and exchange revenues per member (d)
Vacation rental transactions (in 000s) (e)
Average net price per vacation rental (f)
Vacation Ownership
Gross VOI sales (in 000s) (g)
Tours (h)
Volume Per Guest (“VPG”) (i)

$

590,900
34.81
3,781
116.76
367
505.82

$
$
$
$

366,000
173,000
1,944

$
$
$
$
$

583,400
41.93

1
(17)

3,673
124.51
360
553.69

3
(6)
2
(9)

566,000
334,000
1,550

(35)
(48)
25

(a)

Represents the number of rooms at lodging properties at the end of the period which are either (i) under franchise and/or management agreements; (ii) properties affiliated with the
Wyndham Hotels and Resorts brand for which we receive a fee for reservation and/or other services provided; and (iii) properties managed under the CHI Limited joint venture. The
amounts in 2009 and 2008 include 3,549 and 4,367 affiliated rooms, respectively.

(b)

Represents revenue per available room and is calculated by multiplying the percentage of available rooms occupied during the period by the average rate charged for renting a lodging room
for one day.

(c)

Represents members in our vacation exchange programs who pay annual membership dues. For additional fees, such participants are entitled to exchange intervals for intervals at other
properties affiliated with our vacation exchange business. In addition, certain participants may exchange intervals for other leisure-related products and services.

(d)

Represents total revenues from annual membership dues and exchange fees generated for the period divided by the average number of vacation exchange members during the period.
Excluding the impact of foreign exchange movements, such decrease was 3%.

(e)

Represents the number of transactions that are generated in connection with customers booking their vacation rental stays through us. In our European vacation rentals businesses, one rental
transaction is recorded each time a standard one-week rental is booked; however, in the United States, one rental transaction is recorded each time a vacation rental stay is booked, regardless
of whether it is less than or more than one week.

(f)

Represents the net revenue generated from renting vacation properties to customers divided by the number of rental transactions. Excluding the impact of foreign exchange movements, the
average net price per vacation rental would have increased 1%.

(g)

Represents gross sales of VOIs (including tele-sales upgrades, which are a component of upgrade sales) before deferred sales and loan loss provisions.

(h)

Represents the number of tours taken by guests in our efforts to sell VOIs.

(i)

Represents gross VOI sales (excluding tele-sales upgrades, which are a component of upgrade sales) divided by the number of tours.
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THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 VS. THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
Our consolidated results are as follows:
2009
Net revenues
Expenses
Operating income
Other income, net
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

$

$

Three Months Ended September 30,
2008
Change

1,016
810
206
(2)
34
(1)
175
71
104

$

$

1,226
984
242
(5)
21
(2)
228
86
142

$

$

(210)
(174)
(36)
3
13
1
(53)
(15)
(38)

During the third quarter of 2009, our net revenues decreased $210 million (17%) principally due to (i) a $200 million decrease in gross sales of VOIs at our
vacation ownership business reflecting the planned reduction in tour flow, partially offset by an increase in VPG; (ii) a $30 million decrease in net revenues in our
lodging business primarily due to global RevPAR weakness; (iii) a $14 million decrease in net revenues from rental transactions at our vacation exchange and
rentals business due to a decrease in the average net price per rental, including the $19 million unfavorable impact of foreign exchange movements; (iv) a
$9 million decrease in ancillary revenues at our vacation exchange and rentals business from various sources, including the impact from our termination of a low
margin travel service contract; (v) a $4 million decrease in annual dues and exchange revenues due to a decline in exchange revenue per member, including the
$4 million unfavorable impact of foreign exchange movements, partially offset by growth in the average number of members; and (vi) a $3 million decrease in
consumer financing revenues earned on vacation ownership contract receivables due primarily to a decline in our contract receivable portfolio. Such decreases
were partially offset by (i) a net increase of $38 million in the recognition of revenue previously deferred under the percentage-of-completion method of
accounting at our vacation ownership business; (ii) $7 million of incremental property management fees within our vacation ownership business primarily as a
result of rate increases and growth in the number of units under management; and (iii) a $4 million increase in ancillary revenues at our vacation ownership
business associated with the usage of bonus points/credits, which are provided as purchase incentives on VOI sales. The net revenue decrease at our vacation
exchange and rentals business includes the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation of $24 million.
Total expenses decreased $174 million (18%) principally reflecting (i) an $83 million decrease in marketing and reservation expenses primarily resulting from the
reduced sales pace at our vacation ownership business and lower marketing and related spend at our lodging business; (ii) $51 million of lower employee related
expenses at our vacation ownership business primarily due to lower sales commission and administration costs as well as cost savings related to organizational
realignment initiatives; (iii) $41 million of decreased cost of VOI sales due to the expected decline in VOI sales; (iv) $15 million in cost savings primarily from
overhead reductions and benefits related to organizational realignment initiatives at our vacation exchange and rentals business; (v) the favorable impact of
foreign currency translation on expenses at our vacation exchange and rentals business of $11 million; (vi) $6 million of lower volume-related expenses at our
vacation exchange and rentals business; and (vii) the absence of $6 million of costs at our lodging and vacation exchange and rentals businesses relating to
organizational realignment initiatives (see Restructuring Plan for more details). These decreases were partially offset by (i) a net increase of $15 million of
expenses related to the recognition of revenue previously deferred at our vacation ownership business, as discussed above; (ii) $11 million of increased costs at
our vacation ownership business associated with maintenance fees on unsold inventory; (iii) $9 million of incremental expenses at our lodging business primarily
related to bad debt expense and remediation efforts on technology compliance initiatives; (iv) $4 million of decreased payroll costs paid on behalf of property
owners at our lodging business; and (v) $4 million of increased corporate expenses primarily related to higher employee incentive programs and hedging activity.
Other income, net decreased $3 million as a result of the absence of income associated with the sale of a non-strategic asset during the third quarter of 2008 at our
lodging business and a decline in net earnings from equity investments. Such amounts are included within our segment EBITDA results. Interest expense
increased $13 million quarter over quarter due to an increase in interest incurred on our long-term debt facilities resulting from our May 2009 debt issuances (see
Note 6 — Long-Term Debt and Borrowing Arrangements) and a decrease in capitalized interest at our vacation ownership business due to lower development of
vacation ownership inventory. Interest income decreased $1 million during the three months September 30, 2009 compared with the same period during 2008 due
to decreased interest earned on invested cash
29

Table of Contents
balances as a result of a lower rates earned on investments. Our effective tax rate increased from 38% during the third quarter of 2008 to 41% during the third
quarter of 2009 primarily due to an increase in foreign taxes. Excluding the tax impact on legacy related matters, we expect our full year 2009 effective tax rate
will approximate 39%.
As a result of these items, our net income decreased $38 million (27%) as compared to the third quarter of 2008.
Following is a discussion of the results of each of our reportable segments during the third quarter:
Net Revenues
2008

2009
Lodging
Vacation Exchange and Rentals
Vacation Ownership
Total Reportable Segments
Corporate and Other (a)
Total Company

$

$

183
327
508
1,018
(2)
1,016

Less: Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before income taxes
(*)

Not meaningful.

(a)

Includes the elimination of transactions between segments.

$

$

213
354
661
1,228
(2)
1,226

% Change
(14)
(8)
(23)
(17)
*
(17)

EBITDA
2008

2009
$

$

58
107
104
269
(15)
254
46
34
(1)
175

$

$

72
105
128
305
(11)
294

% Change
(19)
2
(19)
(12)
*
(14)

47
21
(2)
228

Lodging
Net revenues and EBITDA decreased $30 million (14%) and $14 million (19%), respectively, during the third quarter of 2009 compared to the third quarter of
2008 primarily reflecting a decline in worldwide RevPAR and other franchise fees, partially offset by lower marketing expenses.
The decline in net revenues reflects (i) a $19 million decrease in domestic royalty, marketing and reservation revenues primarily due to a RevPAR decline of 16%;
(ii) a $5 million decrease in other franchise fees principally related to lower termination and transfer volume; (iii) $4 million of lower reimbursable revenues
recorded within our property management business; and (iv) a $3 million decrease in international royalty, marketing and reservation revenues resulting from a
RevPAR decrease of 22%, or 19% excluding the impact of foreign exchange movements, partially offset by a 10% increase in international rooms. Such
decreases in net revenues were partially offset by a $1 million increase in ancillary revenue. The RevPAR decline was driven by industry-wide occupancy and rate
declines. The $4 million of lower reimbursable revenues recorded within our property management business primarily relates to payroll costs that we incur and
pay on behalf of property owners, for which we are entitled to be fully reimbursed by the property owner. As the reimbursements are made based upon cost with
no added margin, the recorded revenue is offset by the associated expense and there is no resultant impact on EBITDA. Such amount decreased as a result of a
reduction in costs at our managed properties due to lower occupancy, as well as a reduction in the number of hotels under management.
In addition, EBITDA was positively impacted by (i) a decrease of $19 million in marketing and related expenses primarily due to lower spend across our brands
as a result of a decline in related marketing fees received, as well as the timing of spend and (ii) the absence of $4 million of costs relating to organizational
realignment initiatives (see Restructuring Plan for more details). Such amounts were partially offset by (i) $4 million of higher bad debt expense as a result of the
industry downturn; (ii) $3 million of incremental costs due to remediation efforts on technology compliance initiatives; (iii) $2 million of increased costs
associated with ancillary services provided to franchisees; and (iv) the absence of $2 million of income associated with the sale of a non-strategic asset during the
third quarter of 2008.
As of September 30, 2009, we had approximately 7,040 properties and 590,900 rooms in our system. Additionally, our hotel development pipeline included
approximately 1,000 hotels and approximately 110,800 rooms, of which 41% were international and 50% were new construction as of September 30, 2009.
Vacation Exchange and Rentals
Net revenues decreased $27 million (8%), while EBITDA increased $2 million (2%) during the third quarter of 2009 compared with the third quarter of 2008. Net
revenue and expense decreases include $24 million and $11 million,
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respectively, of currency impacts from a stronger U.S. dollar compared to other foreign currencies. The decrease in net revenues reflects a $14 million decrease in
net revenues from rental transactions and related services, a $9 million decrease in ancillary revenues and a $4 million decrease in annual dues and exchange
revenues. EBITDA further includes the impact of $15 million in cost savings from overhead reductions and benefits related to organizational realignment
initiatives and $6 million of lower volume-related expenses, partially offset by $1 million of losses from foreign exchange transactions and the unfavorable impact
from foreign exchange hedging contracts.
Net revenues generated from rental transactions and related services decreased $14 million (7%) during the third quarter of 2009 compared with the third quarter
of 2008. Excluding the unfavorable impact of foreign exchange movements, net revenues generated from rental transactions and related services increased
$5 million (3%) during the third quarter of 2009 driven by a 2% increase in rental transaction volume primarily resulting from increased volume at (i) our U.K.
cottage business due to successful marketing and promotional offers as well as increased functionality of its new web platform and (ii) our Landal business,
which benefited from enhanced marketing programs. Such favorability was partially offset by lower member rentals, which we believe was a result of members
reducing the number of extra vacations primarily due to the downturn in the economy. Average net price per rental increased 1% primarily resulting from a
change in the mix of various rental offerings, with favorable impacts by our member rental and U.K. cottage businesses, partially offset by an unfavorable impact
at our Landal business.
Annual dues and exchange revenues decreased $4 million (4%) during the third quarter of 2009 compared with the third quarter of 2008. Excluding the
unfavorable impact of foreign exchange movements, annual dues and exchange revenues remained flat driven by a 3% decline in revenue generated per member,
offset by a 3% increase in the average number of members primarily due to the enrollment of approximately 135,000 members at the beginning of 2009 resulting
from our Disney Vacation Club affiliation. The decrease in revenue per member was due to lower exchange transactions and subscription fees, partially offset by
the impact of higher exchange transaction pricing. We believe that the lower revenue per member reflects: (i) recent heightened economic uncertainty; (ii) lower
subscription fees primarily due to member retention programs offered at multiyear discounts; and (iii) recent trends among timeshare vacation ownership
developers to enroll members in private label clubs, whereby the members have the option to exchange within the club or through RCI channels. Such trends have
a positive impact on the average number of members but an offsetting effect on the number of exchange transactions per member.
A decrease in ancillary revenues of $9 million was driven by (i) $4 million from various sources, which include fees from additional services provided to
transacting members, fees from our credit card loyalty program and fees generated from programs with affiliated resorts; (ii) $4 million in travel revenue primarily
due to our termination of a low margin travel service contract; and (iii) $1 million due to the unfavorable impact of foreign exchange movements.
In addition, EBITDA was positively impacted by a decrease in expenses of $29 million (12%) driven by (i) $15 million in cost savings primarily from overhead
reductions and benefits related to organizational realignment initiatives; (ii) the favorable impact of foreign currency translation on expenses of $11 million;
(iii) $6 million of lower volume-related expenses; and (iv) the absence of $2 million of costs incurred during the third quarter of 2008 relating to organizational
realignment initiatives (see Restructuring Plan for more details). Such decreases were partially offset by $1 million of losses from foreign exchange transactions
and the unfavorable impact from foreign exchange hedging contracts.
Vacation Ownership
Net revenues and EBITDA decreased $153 million (23%) and $24 million (19%), respectively, during the third quarter of 2009 compared with the third quarter of
2008.
During October 2008, in response to an uncertain credit environment, we announced plans to (i) refocus our vacation ownership sales and marketing efforts,
which resulted in fewer tours, and (ii) concentrate on consumers with higher credit quality beginning in the fourth quarter of 2008. As a result, operating results for
the third quarter of 2009 reflect decreased gross VOI sales, decreased marketing and employee-related expenses, lower cost of VOI sales and the recognition of
previously deferred revenue as a result of continued construction of resorts under development.
Gross sales of VOIs at our vacation ownership business decreased $200 million (35%) during the third quarter of 2009, driven principally by a 48% decrease in
tour flow, partially offset by an increase of 25% in VPG. Tour flow was negatively impacted by the closure of over 85 sales offices since October 1, 2008 related
to our organizational realignment initiatives. VPG was positively impacted by (i) a favorable tour flow mix resulting from the closure of underperforming sales
offices as part of the organizational realignment and (ii) a higher percentage of sales being upgrades to existing owners during the third quarter of 2009 as
compared to the third quarter of 2008 as a result of changes in the mix of tours. Such results were partially offset by a $4 million increase in ancillary revenues
associated with the usage of bonus points/credits, which are provided as purchase incentives on VOI sales.
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Our net revenues and EBITDA comparisons associated with property management were positively impacted by $7 million and $7 million, respectively, during the
third quarter of 2009 primarily due to higher management fees earned as a result of rate increases and growth in the number of units under management. In
addition, EBITDA was positively impacted due to cost containment initiatives implemented during 2009 and in the fourth quarter of 2008.
Under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, a portion of the total revenue associated with the sale of a vacation ownership interest is deferred if the
construction of the vacation resort has not yet been fully completed. Such revenue will be recognized in future periods as construction of the vacation resort
progresses. During the third quarter of 2009, we continued construction on resorts where VOI sales were primarily generated during 2008, resulting in the
recognition of $36 million of revenue previously deferred under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting compared to $2 million of deferred revenue
during the third quarter of 2008. Accordingly, net revenues and EBITDA comparisons were positively impacted by $33 million (including the impact of the
provision for loan losses) and $18 million, respectively, as a result of the net increase in the recognition of revenue previously deferred under the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting.
Our net revenues and EBITDA comparisons were negatively impacted by $3 million and $4 million, respectively, during the third quarter of 2009 due to net
interest income of $73 million earned on contract receivables during the third quarter of 2009 as compared to $77 million during the third quarter of 2008. Such
decrease was primarily due to higher interest costs during the third quarter 2009 and a decline in our contract receivable portfolio. We incurred interest expense of
$35 million on our securitized debt at a weighted average interest rate of 8.9% during the third quarter of 2009 compared to $34 million at a weighted average
interest rate of 5.5% during the third quarter of 2008. Our net interest income margin decreased from 69% during the third quarter of 2008 to 68% during the third
quarter of 2009 due to a 349 basis point increase in our weighted average interest rate and a decline in our contract receivable portfolio.
In addition, EBITDA was positively impacted by $145 million (35%) of decreased expenses, exclusive of incremental property management expenses and interest
expense on our securitized debt, primarily resulting from (i) $64 million of decreased marketing expenses due to the reduction in our sales pace; (ii) $51 million
of lower employee-related expenses primarily due to lower sales commission and administration costs as well as cost savings related to organizational realignment
initiatives; and (iii) $41 million of decreased cost of VOI sales due to the planned reduction in VOI sales. Such decreases were partially offset by $11 million of
increased costs associated with maintenance fees on unsold inventory.
Corporate and Other
Corporate and Other expenses increased $4 million during the third quarter of 2009 compared with the third quarter of 2008. Such increase primarily includes
(i) increased corporate expenses primarily related to $2 million of higher employee incentive programs and $1 million of hedging activity and (ii) $1 million
increase in net expense related to the resolution of and adjustment to certain contingent liabilities and assets.
Other Income, Net
Other income, net decreased $3 million during the three months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008 primarily as a result of (i) the
absence of $2 million of income associated with the sale of a non-strategic asset at our lodging business and (ii) a $2 million decline in net earnings from equity
investments. Such amounts are included within our segment EBITDA results.
Interest Expense/Interest Income
Interest expense increased $13 million during the three months ended September 30, 2009 compared with the same period during 2008 as a result of (i) an
$11 million increase in interest incurred on our long-term debt facilities resulting from our May 2009 debt issuances (see Note 6 — Long-Term Debt and
Borrowing Arrangements) and (ii) a $2 million decrease in capitalized interest at our vacation ownership business due to lower development of vacation
ownership inventory. We expect these trends of higher interest incurred on our long-term debt facilities and lower capitalized interest to continue into 2010 and
anticipate an increase of interest expense of $25 million to $35 million in full year 2010 as compared to full year 2009. Interest income decreased $1 million
during the three months September 30, 2009 compared with the same period during 2008 due to decreased interest earned on invested cash balances as a result of a
lower rates earned on investments.
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NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 VS. NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008
Our consolidated results are as follows:
2009
Net revenues
Expenses
Operating income
Other income, net
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

$

$

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2008
Change

2,837
2,392
445
(4)
79
(5)
375
155
220

$

$

3,370
2,871
499
(9)
59
(8)
457
175
282

$

$

(533)
(479)
(54)
5
20
3
(82)
(20)
(62)

During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, our net revenues decreased $533 million (16%) principally due to (i) a $584 million decrease in gross sales of
VOIs at our vacation ownership businesses reflecting the planned reduction in tour flow, partially offset by an increase in VPG; (ii) a $72 million decrease in net
revenues in our lodging business primarily due to global RevPAR weakness and a decline in reimbursable revenues, partially offset by incremental revenues
contributed from the acquisition of U.S. Franchise Systems, Inc. (“USFS”); (iii) a $60 million decrease in net revenues from rental transactions at our vacation
exchange and rentals business due to a decrease in the average net price per rental, including the $68 million unfavorable impact of foreign exchange movements;
(iv) a $34 million decrease in ancillary revenues at our vacation exchange and rentals business from various sources, including the impact from our termination of
a low margin travel service contract; (v) an increase in our provision for loan losses of $32 million primarily related to a higher estimate of uncollectible
receivables as a percentage of VOI sales financed; and (vi) a $21 million decrease in annual dues and exchange revenues due to a decline in exchange revenue per
member, including the $19 million unfavorable impact of foreign exchange movements, partially offset by growth in the average number of members. Such
decreases were partially offset by (i) a net increase of $229 million in the recognition of revenue previously deferred under the percentage-of-completion method
of accounting at our vacation ownership business; (ii) $19 million of incremental property management fees within our vacation ownership business primarily as a
result of rate increases and growth in the number of units under management; (iii) an $11 million increase in consumer financing revenues earned on vacation
ownership contract receivables due primarily to growth in our contract receivable portfolio; and (iv) a $10 million increase in ancillary revenues at our vacation
ownership business associated with the usage of bonus points/credits, which are provided as purchase incentives on VOI sales. The net revenue decrease at our
vacation exchange and rentals business includes the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation of $91 million.
Total expenses decreased $479 million (17%) principally reflecting (i) a $230 million decrease in marketing and reservation expenses primarily resulting from the
reduced sales pace at our vacation ownership business and lower marketing and related spend at our lodging business; (ii) $178 million of lower employee related
expenses at our vacation ownership business primarily due to lower sales commission and administration costs and cost savings related to organizational
realignment initiatives; (iii) $140 million of decreased cost of VOI sales due to the expected decline in VOI sales; (iv) the favorable impact of foreign currency
translation on expenses at our vacation exchange and rentals business of $70 million; (v) $45 million in cost savings primarily from overhead reductions and
benefits related to organizational realignment initiatives at our vacation exchange and rentals business; (vi) the absence of a $28 million non-cash impairment
charge recorded during the first quarter of 2008 due to our initiative to rebrand two of our vacation ownership trademarks to the Wyndham brand; (vii)
$13 million of decreased payroll costs paid on behalf of property owners in our lodging business; and (viii) $11 million of lower volume-related expenses at our
vacation exchange and rentals business. These decreases were partially offset by (i) a net increase of $90 million of expenses related to the recognition of revenue
previously deferred at our vacation ownership business, as discussed above; (ii) $41 million of increased costs at our vacation ownership business associated with
maintenance fees on unsold inventory, our trial membership marketing program and sales incentives awarded to owners; (iii) an increase of $40 million of costs
across our businesses due to organizational realignment initiatives (see Restructuring Plan for more details); (iv) $15 million of losses from foreign exchange
transactions and the unfavorable impact from foreign exchange hedging contracts at our vacation exchange and rentals business; (v) $11 million of higher
corporate costs primarily related to hedging activity, severance, employee incentive programs and additional rent associated with the consolidation of two leased
facilities into one, partially offset by cost savings initiatives; (vi) $11 million of incremental expenses at our lodging business related to bad debt expense and
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remediation efforts on technology compliance initiatives; (vii) a $9 million increase in consumer financing interest expenses primarily related to an increase in
interest rates, partially offset by decreased average borrowings on our securitized debt facilities; (viii) a non-cash charge of $8 million at our vacation ownership
business to impair the value of certain vacation ownership properties and related assets held for sale that are no longer consistent with our development plans; and
(ix) a $5 million increase in expenses at our lodging business as a result of our acquisition of USFS.
Other income, net decreased $5 million primarily as a result of a decline in net earnings from equity investments, the absence of income associated with the
assumption of a lodging-related credit card marketing program obligation by a third party and the absence of income associated with the sale of a non-strategic
asset at our lodging business, partially offset by higher gains associated with the sale of non-strategic assets at our vacation ownership business. Such amounts are
included within our segment EBITDA results. Interest expense increased $20 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to the nine
months ended September 30, 2008 primarily due to an increase in interest incurred on our long-term debt facilities resulting from our May 2009 debt issuances
(see Note 6 — Long-Term Debt and Borrowing Arrangements) and lower capitalized interest at our vacation ownership business due to lower development of
vacation ownership inventory. Interest income decreased $3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared with the same period during
2008 due to decreased interest earned on invested cash balances as a result of lower rates earned on investments. Our effective tax rate increased from 38% during
the nine months ended September 30, 2008 to 41% during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 primarily due to a $4 million write-off of deferred tax assets
that were associated with stock based compensation, which were in excess of our pool of excess tax benefits available to absorb tax deficiencies. Excluding the tax
impact on legacy related matters, we expect our full year 2009 effective tax rate will approximate 39%.
As a result of these items, our net income decreased $62 million (22%) as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2008.
Following is a discussion of the results of each of our reportable segments during the nine months ended September 30, 2009:
Net Revenues
2008

2009
Lodging
Vacation Exchange and Rentals
Vacation Ownership
Total Reportable Segments
Corporate and Other (a)
Total Company

$

$

511
894
1,437
2,842
(5)
2,837

Less: Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before income taxes
(*)

Not meaningful.

(a)

Includes the elimination of transactions between segments.

$

$

583
1,009
1,786
3,378
(8)
3,370

% Change
(12)
(11)
(20)
(16)
*
(16)

EBITDA
2008

2009
$

$

143
240
255
638
(55)
583
134
79
(5)
375

$

$

179
252
248
679
(34)
645

% Change
(20)
(5)
3
(6)
*
(10)

137
59
(8)
457

Lodging
Net revenues and EBITDA decreased $72 million (12%) and $36 million (20%), respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to the
same period in 2008 primarily reflecting a decline in worldwide RevPAR and other franchise fees, partially offset by lower marketing expenses and the impact of
the USFS acquisition.
The acquisition of USFS contributed incremental net revenues and EBITDA of $11 million and $6 million, respectively. Excluding the impact of this acquisition,
net revenues declined $83 million reflecting (i) a $48 million decrease in domestic royalty, marketing and reservation revenues primarily due to a RevPAR decline
of 15%; (ii) $13 million of lower reimbursable revenues earned by our property management business; (iii) a $12 million decrease in other franchise fees
principally related to lower termination and transfer volume; and (iv) a $10 million decrease in international royalty, marketing and reservation revenues resulting
from a RevPAR decrease of 23%, or 18% excluding the impact of foreign exchange movements, partially offset by a 10% increase in international rooms. The
RevPAR decline was driven by industry-wide occupancy and rate declines. The $13 million of lower reimbursable revenues earned by our property
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management business primarily relates to payroll costs that we incur and pay on behalf of property owners, for which we are entitled to be fully reimbursed by the
property owner. As the reimbursements are made based upon cost with no added margin, the recorded revenue is offset by the associated expense and there is no
resultant impact on EBITDA. Such amount decreased as a result of a reduction in costs at our managed properties due to lower occupancy, as well as a reduction
in the number of hotels under management.
In addition, EBITDA was positively impacted by (i) a decrease of $43 million in marketing and related expenses primarily due to lower spend across our brands
as a result of a decline in related marketing fees received, as well as the timing of spend and (ii) $1 million of lower costs relating to organizational realignment
initiatives (see Restructuring Plan for more details). Such decreases were partially offset by (i) $7 million of higher bad debt expense as a result of the industry
downturn; (ii) $4 million of incremental costs due to remediation efforts on technology compliance initiatives; (iii) the absence of $2 million of income associated
with the assumption of a credit card marketing program obligation by a third party during the second quarter of 2008; and (iv) the absence of $2 million of income
associated with the sale of a non-strategic asset during the third quarter of 2008.
Vacation Exchange and Rentals
Net revenues and EBITDA decreased $115 million (11%) and $12 million (5%), respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared with
the same period during 2008. Net revenue and expense decreases include $91 million and $70 million, respectively, of currency impacts from a stronger
U.S. dollar compared to other foreign currencies. The decrease in net revenues reflects a $60 million decrease in net revenues from rental transactions and related
services, a $34 million decrease in ancillary revenues and a $21 million decrease in annual dues and exchange revenues. EBITDA further includes the net impact
of $45 million in cost savings from overhead reductions and benefits related to organizational realignment initiatives and $11 million of lower volume-related
expenses, partially offset by $15 million of losses from foreign exchange transactions and the unfavorable impact from foreign exchange hedging contracts.
Net revenues generated from rental transactions and related services decreased $60 million (12%) during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared
with the same period during 2008. Excluding the unfavorable impact of foreign exchange movements, net revenues generated from rental transactions and related
services increased $8 million (2%) during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 as rental transaction volume increased 1% primarily driven by increased
volume at (i) our U.K. cottage business due to successful marketing and promotional offers as well as increased functionality of its new web platform and (ii) our
Landal business, which benefited from enhanced marketing programs. Such favorability was partially offset by lower member rentals, which we believe was a
result of members reducing the number of extra vacations and a decline in volume at our Novasol European vacation rental business, both primarily due to the
downturn in the economy. Average net price per rental remained flat primarily resulting from a change in the mix of various rental offerings, with favorable
impacts by our Landal and U.K. cottage rental businesses offset by unfavorable impacts at our member rental business.
Annual dues and exchange revenues decreased $21 million (6%) during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared with the same period during 2008.
Excluding the unfavorable impact of foreign exchange movements, annual dues and exchange revenues declined $2 million driven by a 4% decline in revenue
generated per member, partially offset by a 3% increase in the average number of members primarily due to the enrollment of approximately 135,000 members at
the beginning of 2009 resulting from our Disney Vacation Club affiliation. The decrease in revenue per member was due to lower exchange transactions and
subscription fees, partially offset by the impact of higher exchange transaction pricing. We believe that the lower revenue per member reflects: (i) recent
heightened economic uncertainty; (ii) lower subscription fees due primarily to member retention programs offered at multiyear discounts; and (iii) recent trends
among timeshare vacation ownership developers to enroll members in private label clubs, whereby the members have the option to exchange within the club or
through RCI channels. Such trends have a positive impact on the average number of members but an offsetting effect on the number of exchange transactions per
member.
A decrease in ancillary revenues of $34 million was driven by (i) $15 million from various sources, which include fees from additional services provided to
transacting members, fees from our credit card loyalty program and fees generated from programs with affiliated resorts; (ii) $14 million in travel revenue
primarily due to our termination of a low margin travel service contract; and (iii) $5 million due to the unfavorable impact of foreign exchange movements.
In addition, EBITDA was positively impacted by a decrease in expenses of $103 million (14%) driven by (i) the favorable impact of foreign currency translation
on expenses of $70 million; (ii) $45 million in cost savings primarily from overhead reductions and benefits related to organizational realignment initiatives; and
(iii) $11 million of lower volume-related expenses. Such decreases were partially offset by (i) $15 million of losses from foreign exchange transactions and the
unfavorable impact from foreign exchange hedging contracts and (ii) $5 million of costs relating to organizational realignment initiatives (see Restructuring Plan
for more details).
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Net revenues decreased $349 million (20%) while EBITDA increased $7 million (3%) during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared with the same
period during 2008.
During October 2008, in response to an uncertain credit environment, we announced plans to (i) refocus our vacation ownership sales and marketing efforts,
which resulted in fewer tours, and (ii) concentrate on consumers with higher credit quality beginning in the fourth quarter of 2008. As a result, operating results for
the nine months ended September 30, 2009 reflect decreased gross VOI sales, the recognition of previously deferred revenue as a result of continued construction
of resorts under development, decreased marketing and employee-related expenses, lower cost of VOI sales and costs related to realignment initiatives.
Gross sales of VOIs at our vacation ownership business decreased $584 million (38%) during the nine months ended September 30, 2009, driven principally by a
47% decrease in tour flow, partially offset by an increase of 19% in VPG. Tour flow was negatively impacted by the closure of over 85 sales offices since
October 1, 2008 related to our organizational realignment initiatives. VPG was positively impacted by (i) a favorable tour flow mix resulting from the closure of
underperforming sales offices as part of the organizational realignment and (ii) a higher percentage of sales being upgrades to existing owners during the nine
months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to the same period during 2008 as a result of changes in the mix of tours. Our provision for loan losses increased
$32 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to the same period during 2008 primarily related to a higher estimate of uncollectible
receivables as a percentage of VOI sales financed. Such results were partially offset by a $10 million increase in ancillary revenues associated with the usage of
bonus points/credits, which are provided as purchase incentives on VOI sales.
Our net revenues and EBITDA comparisons associated with property management were positively impacted by $19 million and $23 million, respectively, during
the nine months ended September 30, 2009 primarily due to higher management fees earned as a result of rate increases and growth in the number of units under
management. In addition, EBITDA was positively impacted due to cost containment initiatives implemented during 2009 and in the fourth quarter of 2008.
Under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, a portion of the total revenue associated with the sale of a vacation ownership interest is deferred if the
construction of the vacation resort has not yet been fully completed. Such revenue will be recognized in future periods as construction of the vacation resort
progresses. During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, we continued construction on resorts where VOI sales were primarily generated during 2008,
resulting in the recognition of $140 million of revenue previously deferred under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting compared to $89 million of
deferred revenue during the same period during 2008. Accordingly, net revenues and EBITDA comparisons were positively impacted by $197 million (including
the impact of the provision for loan losses) and $107 million, respectively, as a result of the net increase in the recognition of revenue previously deferred under
the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. We anticipate a net benefit of approximately $170 million to $190 million during 2009 from the recognition
of previously deferred revenue as construction of these resorts progresses.
Net revenues and EBITDA comparisons were favorably impacted by $11 million and $2 million, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2009
due to net interest income of $223 million earned on contract receivables during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to $221 million during
the nine months ended September 30, 2008. Such increase was primarily due to growth in our contract receivable portfolio, partially offset by higher interest costs
during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to the same period during 2008. We incurred interest expense of $102 million on our securitized
debt at a weighted average interest rate of 8.3% during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to $93 million at a weighted average interest rate of
5.1% during the nine months ended September 30, 2008. Our net interest income margin decreased from 70% during the nine months ended September 30, 2008
to 69% during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 due to a 319 basis point increase in our weighted average interest rate, partially offset by $430 million
of decreased average borrowings on our securitized debt facilities and growth in our contract receivable portfolio.
In addition, EBITDA was positively impacted by $451 million (37%) of decreased expenses, exclusive of incremental property management expenses and interest
expense on our securitized debt, primarily resulting from (i) $187 million of decreased marketing expenses due to the reduction in our sales pace; (ii) $178 million
of lower employee-related expenses primarily due to lower sales commission and administration costs and cost savings related to organizational realignment
initiatives; (iii) $140 million of decreased cost of VOI sales due to the planned reduction in VOI sales; and (iv) the absence of a $28 million non-cash impairment
charge recorded during the first quarter of 2008 due to our initiative to rebrand two of our vacation ownership trademarks to the Wyndham brand. Such decreases
were partially offset by (i) $36 million of costs relating to organizational realignment initiatives (see Restructuring Plan for more details); (ii) $30 million of
increased costs associated with maintenance fees on unsold inventory; (iii) a non-cash charge of $8 million to impair the value of certain vacation ownership
properties and related assets held for sale that are no longer consistent with our
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development plans; (iv) $7 million of increased costs related to sales incentives awarded to owners; and (v) $4 million of increased costs related to our trial
membership marketing program.
Corporate and Other
Corporate and Other expenses increased $24 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared with the nine months ended September 30,
2008. Such increase primarily includes (i) increased corporate expenses primarily due to $7 million of hedging activity, $5 million of severance and employee
incentive programs and $3 million of other, including additional rent associated with the consolidation of two leased facilities into one, partially offset by
$4 million of cost savings initiatives; (ii) $6 million of net expense related to the resolution of and adjustment to certain contingent liabilities and assets; (iii) the
absence of a $4 million net benefit related to the resolution of and adjustment to certain contingent liabilities and assets recorded during 2008; and (iv) $1 million
of costs relating to organizational realignment initiatives (see Restructuring Plan for more details).
Other Income, Net
Other income, net decreased $5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 as compared to the same period in 2008. Such decrease includes (i) a
$3 million decline in net earnings from equity investments; (ii) the absence of $2 million of income associated with the assumption of a lodging-related credit card
marketing program obligation by a third party; and (iii) the absence of $2 million of income associated with the sale of a non-strategic asset at our lodging
business, partially offset by $2 million of higher gains associated with the sale of non-strategic assets at our vacation ownership business. Such amounts are
included within our segment EBITDA results.
Interest Expense/Interest Income
Interest expense increased $20 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared with the same period during 2008 as a result of (i) a
$13 million increase in interest incurred on our long-term debt facilities resulting from our May 2009 debt issuances (see Note 6 — Long-Term Debt and
Borrowing Arrangements) and (ii) $7 million of lower capitalized interest at our vacation ownership business due to lower development of vacation ownership
inventory. We expect these trends of higher interest incurred on our long-term debt facilities and lower capitalized interest to continue into 2010 and anticipate an
increase of interest expense of $25 million to $35 million in full year 2010 as compared to full year 2009. Interest income decreased $3 million during the nine
months ended September 30, 2009 compared with the same period during 2008 due to decreased interest earned on invested cash balances as a result of lower rates
earned on investments.
RESTRUCTURING PLAN
In response to a deteriorating global economy, during 2008, we committed to various strategic realignment initiatives targeted principally at reducing costs,
enhancing organizational efficiency and consolidating and rationalizing existing processes and facilities. As a result, we recorded $46 million in incremental
restructuring costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and $6 million during both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008. Such
strategic realignment initiatives included:
Lodging
We continued the operational realignment of our lodging business, which began during 2008, to enhance its global franchisee services, promote more efficient
channel management to further drive revenue at franchised locations and managed properties and position the Wyndham brand appropriately and consistently in
the marketplace. As a result of these changes, we recorded $3 million in costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and $4 million during both the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2008 primarily related to the elimination of certain positions and the related severance benefits and outplacement
services that were provided for impacted employees.
Vacation Exchange and Rentals
Our strategic realignment in our vacation exchange and rentals business streamlined exchange operations primarily across its international businesses by reducing
management layers to improve regional accountability. Such plan resulted in $6 million in restructuring costs during nine months ended September 30, 2009 and
$2 million during both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008.
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Our vacation ownership business refocused its sales and marketing efforts by closing the least profitable sales offices and eliminating marketing programs that
were producing prospects with lower credit quality. Consequently, we have decreased the level of timeshare development, reduced our need to access the assetbacked securities market and enhanced cash flow. Such realignment includes the elimination of certain positions, the termination of leases of certain sales and
administrative offices, the termination of development projects and the write-off of assets related to the sales and administrative offices and cancelled development
projects. These initiatives resulted in costs of $36 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009.
Corporate and Other
We identified opportunities at our corporate business to reduce costs by enhancing organizational efficiency and consolidating and rationalizing existing
processes. As a result, we recorded $1 million in restructuring costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2009.
Total Company
During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, as a result of these strategic realignments, we recorded $46 million of incremental restructuring costs related
to such realignments, including a reduction of approximately 370 employees (all of whom were terminated as of September 30, 2009), and reduced our liability
with $45 million in cash payments and $15 million of other non-cash items. The remaining liability of $26 million is expected to be paid in cash; $5 million of
personnel-related by September 2010 and $21 million of primarily facility-related by September 2017. We began to realize the benefits of these strategic
realignment initiatives during the fourth quarter of 2008 and anticipate annual net savings from such initiatives of approximately $160 million to $180 million
beginning in 2009.
FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
FINANCIAL CONDITION
September 30,
2009
Total assets
Total liabilities
Total stockholders’ equity

$

9,342
6,715
2,627

December 31,
2008
$

9,573
7,231
2,342

Change
$

(231)
(516)
285

Total assets decreased $231 million from December 31, 2008 to September 30, 2009 due to (i) a $176 million decrease in vacation ownership contract receivables,
net from decreased VOI sales and inventory resulting from the decline in our level of vacation ownership development; (ii) an $81 million decrease in trade
receivables, net, primarily due to seasonality at our European vacation rentals businesses and a decline in ancillary revenues at our vacation ownership business;
(iii) a $53 million decline in deferred income taxes primarily attributable to utilization of net operating loss carryforwards; (iv) a $36 million decrease in other
current assets primarily due to the recognition of VOI sales commissions that were previously deferred and a decline in other receivables at our vacation
ownership business related to lower revenues from ancillary services, partially offset by increased assets available for sale resulting from certain vacation
ownership properties and related assets that are no longer consistent with our development plans; (v) a $24 million decrease in property and equipment primarily
related to the termination of certain property development projects and the write-off of related assets in connection with our organizational realignment initiatives
within our vacation ownership business, partially offset by increased leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures and equipment at corporate primarily related
to the consolidation of two leased facilities into one, which we occupied during the first quarter of 2009; (vi) a $24 million decrease in prepaid expenses due to
lower prepaid commissions and decreased marketing activity related to the reduced sales pace at our vacation ownership business, as well as lower prepaid
catalogue printing costs at our vacation exchange and rentals business; and (vii) a $16 million decrease in franchise agreements and other intangibles, net,
primarily related to the amortization of franchise agreements at our lodging business. Such decreases were partially offset by (i) a $112 million increase in other
non-current assets primarily due to the call option transactions we entered into concurrent with the sale of the convertible notes, which is discussed in greater detail
in Note 6—Long-Term Debt and Borrowing Arrangements; (ii) an increase of $34 million in cash and cash equivalents, which is discussed in further detail in
“Liquidity and Capital Resources—Cash Flows”; and (iii) a $33 million net increase in goodwill related to the impact of currency translation at our vacation
exchange and rentals business.
Total liabilities decreased $516 million primarily due to (i) a $210 million decrease in deferred income primarily resulting from the recognition of previously
deferred revenues due to the continued construction of VOI resorts; (ii) a $206 million net decrease in our securitized vacation ownership debt (see Note 6—LongTerm Debt and Borrowing Arrangements);
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(iii) a $69 million decrease in accounts payable primarily due to the impact of the reduced sales pace at our vacation ownership business, seasonality at our
European vacation rental businesses and the timing of payments on accounts payable at corporate related to the consolidation of two leased facilities into one;
(iv) a $60 million decrease in accrued expenses and other current liabilities primarily due to a decrease in accrued restructuring liabilities at our vacation
ownership business related to payments made during 2009 and lower customer deposits and marketing accruals related to the reduced sales pace at our vacation
ownership business, partially offset by increased accrued interest related to our May 2009 debt issuances; and (v) a $37 million decrease in due to former Parent
and subsidiaries resulting from the payment of a contingent litigation liability (see “Separation Adjustments and Transactions with Former Parent and
Subsidiary”). Such decreases were partially offset by (i) a $59 million increase in deferred income taxes primarily attributable to movement in our other
comprehensive income and (ii) a net increase of $5 million in our other long-term debt reflecting a derivative liability related to the bifurcated conversion feature
entered into concurrent with our May 2009 debt issuances, partially offset by higher net principal payments on our revolving credit facility.
Total stockholders’ equity increased $285 million due to (i) $220 million of net income generated during the nine months ended September 30, 2009;
(ii) $39 million of currency translation adjustments; (iii) a change of $28 million in deferred equity compensation; (iv) $13 million of unrealized gains on cash
flow hedges; and (v) $11 million related to the issuance of warrants to certain counterparties concurrent with the sale of convertible notes during May 2009. Such
increases were partially offset by (i) the payment of $22 million in dividends and (ii) a $4 million decrease to our pool of excess tax benefits available to absorb
tax deficiencies due to the vesting of equity awards.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Currently, our financing needs are supported by cash generated from operations and borrowings under our revolving credit facility. In addition, certain funding
requirements of our vacation ownership business are met through the issuance of securitized and other debt to finance vacation ownership contract receivables.
We believe that access to our revolving credit facility and our current liquidity vehicles, as well as continued access to the securitization and debt markets and/or
other financing vehicles, will provide us with sufficient liquidity to meet our ongoing needs. If we are unable to access these markets, it will negatively impact our
liquidity position and may require us to further adjust our business operations. See Liquidity Risk for a discussion of the current and anticipated impact on our
securitizations program from the adverse conditions present in the United States asset-backed securities and commercial paper markets.
On October 23, 2009, we renewed our 364-day, non-recourse, securitized vacation ownership bank conduit facility with a term through October 2010. The
capacity for this facility was reduced from $943 million to $600 million, which is consistent with our decision to reduce vacation ownership interest sales and our
projected future funding needs. At the time of closing on October 23, 2009, the $600 million bank conduit facility had available capacity of approximately
$430 million. The outstanding balance on our previous bank conduit facility was repaid on October 8, 2009.
CASH FLOWS
During the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, we had a net change in cash and cash equivalents of $34 million and $18 million, respectively. The
following table summarizes such changes:
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2009
2008
Change
Cash provided by/(used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effects of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

569 $
(138)
(411)
14
34 $

146 $
(295)
182
(15)
18 $

423
157
(593)
29
16

Operating Activities
During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, net cash provided by operating activities increased $423 million as compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2008, which principally reflects (i) lower originations of our vacation ownership contract receivables due to our previously announced initiative to
reduce our 2009 VOI sales pace; (ii) lower investments in inventory at our vacation ownership and vacation exchange and rentals businesses; (iii) lower trade
accounts receivables primarily due to lower revenues across our vacation ownership and lodging businesses; (iv) a reduction of prepaid commissions related to
VOI sales; and (v) an increase in our provision for loan losses due to a higher estimate of uncollectible receivables as a percentage of VOI sales financed. Such
increase in cash inflows was partially offset by (i) a reduction of deferred revenues related to VOI sales under the percentage of completion method of accounting;
(ii) lower
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earnings at our lodging and vacation exchange and rentals businesses, which is discussed in further detail in “Nine Months Ended Results of Operations”; and
(iii) payment of contingent litigation liabilities recorded in due to former Parent and subsidiaries, which is discussed in greater detail in “Separation Adjustments
and Transactions with Former Parent and Subsidiaries”.
Investing Activities
During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, net cash used in investing activities decreased $157 million as compared with the nine months ended
September 30, 2008, which principally reflects (i) the absence of acquisition-related-payments of $135 million primarily due to the acquisition of USFS;
(ii) $24 million decrease in property and equipment additions across our business units, partially offset by higher leasehold improvements related to the
consolidation of two leased facilities into one; (iii) a net change in cash flows from escrow deposits restricted cash of $10 million primarily due to the release of
restricted cash for renovation projects that have been completed at our vacation exchange and rentals and vacation ownership businesses; and (iv) lower equity
investments and development advances of $7 million primarily within our lodging business. Such decreases in cash outflows were partially offset by an increase
of $16 million in cash outflows from securitized restricted cash primarily due to the timing of cash that we are required to set aside in connection with additional
vacation ownership contract receivable securitizations.
Financing Activities
During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, net cash used in financing activities increased $593 million as compared with the nine months ended
September 30, 2008, which principally reflects (i) $363 million of higher net principal payments related to other borrowings and (ii) $210 million of higher net
principal payments related to securitized vacation ownership debt. The proceeds from our May 2009 debt issuances were primarily utilized to reduce the principal
amount outstanding under our revolving credit facility. Concurrent with the sale of the convertible notes, we entered into convertible note hedge and warrant
transactions with certain counterparties that resulted in a net cash outflow of $31 million. Such net cash outflows were partially offset by the absence of
$15 million spend on our stock repurchase program during the nine months ended September 30, 2008.
Capital Deployment
We intend to continue to invest in selected capital improvements and technological improvements in our lodging, vacation ownership and vacation exchange and
rentals and corporate businesses. In addition, we may seek to acquire additional franchise agreements, property management contracts, ownership interests in
hotels as part of our mixed-use properties strategy, and exclusive agreements for vacation rental properties on a strategic and selective basis, either directly or
through investments in joint ventures. We are focusing on cash flow and seeking to deploy capital for the highest possible returns. Ultimately, our business
objective is to transform our cash and earnings profile, primarily by rebalancing the cash streams to achieve a greater proportion of EBITDA from our
fee-for-service businesses.
We spent $109 million on capital expenditures during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 including leasehold improvements related to the consolidation
of two leased facilities into one, which we occupied during the first quarter of 2009, the improvement of technology and maintenance of technological advantages
and routine improvements. During 2009, we anticipate spending approximately $120 million to $130 million on routine capital expenditures and an additional
$25 million related to the consolidation of two leased facilities into one for total capital expenditures of $145 million to $155 million. In addition, we spent
$169 million relating to vacation ownership development projects during the nine months ended September 30, 2009. We believe that our vacation ownership
business will have adequate inventory through 2011 and thus we plan to sell the vacation ownership inventory that is currently on our balance sheet and complete
vacation ownership projects currently under development. As a result, we anticipate spending approximately $175 million to $225 million on vacation ownership
development projects during 2009 and approximately $100 million during 2010. We expect that the majority of the expenditures that will be required to pursue
our capital spending programs, strategic investments and vacation ownership development projects will be financed with cash flow generated through operations.
Additional expenditures are financed with general unsecured corporate borrowings, including through the use of available capacity under our $900 million
revolving credit facility.
Share Repurchase Program
On August 20, 2007, our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program that enables us to purchase up to $200 million of our common stock. The
Board of Directors’ 2007 authorization included increased repurchase capacity for proceeds received from stock option exercises. We have not repurchased any
shares since the third quarter of 2008 and, as such, we currently have $155 million remaining availability in our program. The amount and timing of specific
repurchases
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are subject to market conditions, applicable legal requirements and other factors. Repurchases may be conducted in the open market or in privately negotiated
transactions.
Contingent Tax Liabilities
The rules governing taxation are complex and subject to varying interpretations. Therefore, our tax accruals reflect a series of complex judgments about future
events and rely heavily on estimates and assumptions. While we believe that the estimates and assumptions supporting our tax accruals are reasonable, tax audits
and any related litigation could result in tax liabilities for us that are materially different than those reflected in our historical income tax provisions and recorded
assets and liabilities. The result of an audit or litigation could have a material adverse effect on our income tax provision, net income, and/or cash flows in the
period or periods to which such audit or litigation relates.
The IRS has commenced an audit of Cendant’s taxable years 2003 through 2006, during which we were included in Cendant’s tax returns. Our recorded tax
liabilities in respect of such taxable years represent our current best estimates of the probable outcome with respect to certain tax provisions taken by Cendant for
which we would be responsible under the tax sharing agreement. There can be no assurance that the IRS will not propose adjustments to the returns for which we
would be responsible under the tax sharing agreement or that any such proposed adjustments would not be material. Any determination by the IRS or a court that
imposed tax liabilities on us under the tax sharing agreement in excess of our tax accruals could have a material adverse effect on our income tax provision, net
income, and/or cash flows, which is the result of our obligations under the Separation and Distribution Agreement, as discussed in Note 15—Separation
Adjustments and Transactions with Former Parent and Subsidiaries. At September 30, 2009, we had $273 million of tax liabilities pursuant to the Separation and
Distribution Agreement, which are recorded within due to former Parent and subsidiaries on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. We expect the payment on a
majority of these liabilities to occur during the second half of 2010. We expect to make such payment from cash flow generated through operations and the use of
available capacity under our $900 million revolving credit facility.
FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS
Our indebtedness consisted of:
September 30,
2009
Securitized vacation ownership debt:
Term notes
Previous bank conduit facility (a)
2008 bank conduit facility (b)
Total securitized vacation ownership debt

$

$

Long-term debt:
6.00% senior unsecured notes (due December 2016) (c)
Term loan (due July 2011)
Revolving credit facility (due July 2011) (d)
9.875% senior unsecured notes (due May 2014) (e)
3.50% convertible notes (due May 2012) (f)
Vacation ownership bank borrowings (g)
Vacation rentals capital leases
Other
Total long-term debt

$

$

December 31,
2008

1,305
114
185
1,604

$

797
300
21
237
309
163
139
23
1,989

$

$

$

1,252
417
141
1,810
797
300
576
—
—
159
139
13
1,984

(a)

Represents the outstanding balance of our previous bank conduit facility which was repaid on October 8, 2009.

(b)

Represents a 364-day, $943 million, non-recourse vacation ownership bank conduit facility, with a term through November 2009, whose capacity is reduced by $87 million of borrowings
on our previous bank conduit facility and is subject to our ability to provide additional assets to collateralize the facility. As of September 30, 2009, the total available capacity of the
facility was $671 million. On October 23, 2009, we renewed this facility through October 2010 and reduced its capacity from $943 million to $600 million. At the time of closing, the
renewed facility had available capacity of approximately $430 million.

(c)

The balance at September 30, 2009 represents $800 million aggregate principal less $3 million of unamortized discount.

(d)

The revolving credit facility has a total capacity of $900 million, which includes availability for letters of credit. As of September 30, 2009, we had $30 million of letters of credit
outstanding and, as such, the total available capacity of the revolving credit facility was $849 million.

(e)

Represents senior unsecured notes we issued during May 2009. Such balance represents $250 million aggregate principal less $13 million of unamortized discount.

(f)

Represents cash convertible notes we issued during May 2009. Such balance includes $187 million of debt ($230 million aggregate principal less $43 million of unamortized discount) and
a liability with a fair value of $122 million related to a bifurcated conversion feature. Additionally, at
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September 30, 2009, our convertible note hedge call options are recorded at their fair value of $122 million within other non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
(g)

Represents a 364-day, AUD 213 million, secured, revolving foreign credit facility, which expires in June 2010.

2009 Debt Issuances
During 2009, we closed five term securitizations and a secured, revolving foreign credit facility. Additionally, we issued senior unsecured and convertible notes
and renewed our securitized vacation ownership bank conduit facility. For further detailed information about such debt, see Note 6—Long-Term Debt and
Borrowing Arrangements and Note 16—Subsequent Events.
Capacity
As of September 30, 2009, available capacity under our borrowing arrangements was as follows:
Total
Capacity
Securitized vacation ownership debt:
Term notes
Previous bank conduit facility
2008 bank conduit facility
Total securitized vacation ownership debt (a)

$

$

Long-term debt:
6.00% senior unsecured notes (due December 2016)
Term loan (due July 2011)
Revolving credit facility (due July 2011) (b)
9.875% senior unsecured notes (due May 2014)
3.50% convertible notes (due May 2012)
Vacation ownership bank borrowings (c)
Vacation rentals capital leases (d)
Other
Total long-term debt

$

$

Outstanding
Borrowings

1,305
114
856
2,275

$

797
300
900
237
309
188
139
55
2,925

$

$

$

Available
Capacity

1,305
114
185
1,604

$

797
300
21
237
309
163
139
23
1,989

$

$

Less: Issuance of letters of credit (b)
$

—
—
671
671
—
—
879
—
—
25
—
32
936
30
906

(a)

These outstanding borrowings are collateralized by $2,947 million of underlying gross vacation ownership contract receivables and related assets. The capacity of our 2008 bank conduit
facility of $943 million is reduced by $87 million of borrowings on our previous bank conduit facility. Such amount subsequently became available as capacity for our 2008 bank conduit
facility as the outstanding balance on our previous bank conduit facility was repaid on October 8, 2009. The capacity of this facility is subject to our ability to provide additional assets to
collateralize additional securitized borrowings.

(b)

The capacity under our revolving credit facility includes availability for letters of credit. As of September 30, 2009, the available capacity of $879 million was further reduced by
$30 million for the issuance of letters of credit.

(c)

These borrowings are collateralized by $254 million of underlying gross vacation ownership contract receivables. The capacity of this facility is subject to maintaining sufficient assets to
collateralize these secured obligations.

(d)

These leases are recorded as capital lease obligations with corresponding assets classified within property and equipment on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Vacation Ownership Contract Receivables and Securitizations
We pool qualifying vacation ownership contract receivables and sell them to bankruptcy-remote entities. Vacation ownership contract receivables qualify for
securitization based primarily on the credit strength of the VOI purchaser to whom financing has been extended. Vacation ownership contract receivables are
securitized through bankruptcy-remote special purpose entities (“SPEs”) that are consolidated within our Consolidated Financial Statements. As a result, we do
not recognize gains or losses resulting from these securitizations at the time of sale to the SPEs. Income is recognized when earned over the contractual life of the
vacation ownership contract receivables. We continue to service the securitized vacation ownership contract receivables pursuant to servicing agreements
negotiated on an arms-length basis based on market conditions. The activities of these SPEs are limited to (i) purchasing vacation ownership contract receivables
from our vacation ownership subsidiaries; (ii) issuing debt securities and/or borrowing under a conduit facility to fund such purchases; and (iii) entering into
derivatives to hedge interest rate exposure. The securitized assets of these bankruptcy-remote SPEs are not available to pay our general obligations. Additionally,
the creditors of these SPEs have no recourse to us.
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The assets and debt of these vacation ownership SPEs are as follows:
September 30,
2009
Securitized contract receivables, gross
Securitized restricted cash
Interest receivables on securitized contract receivables
Other assets (a)
Total securitized assets (b)
Securitized term notes
Securitized conduit facilities
Other liabilities (c)
Total securitized liabilities
Securitized assets in excess of securitized liabilities

$

$

(a)

Primarily includes interest rate derivative contracts and related assets.

(b)

Excludes deferred financing costs related to securitized debt.

(c)

Primarily includes interest rate derivative contracts and accrued interest on securitized debt.

2,723
183
20
21
2,947
1,305
299
32
1,636
1,311

December 31,
2008
$

2,748
155
22
4
2,929
1,252
558
47
1,857
1,072

$

In addition, we have vacation ownership contract receivables that have not been securitized through bankruptcy-remote SPEs. Such gross receivables were
$767 million and $889 million at September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively. A summary of total vacation ownership receivables and other
securitized assets, net of securitized liabilities and the allowance for loan losses, is as follows:
September 30,
2009
Securitized assets in excess of securitized liabilities
Non-securitized contract receivables
Secured contract receivables (*)
Allowance for loan losses
Total, net
(*)

$

$

1,311
513
254
(372)
1,706

December 31,
2008
$

$

1,072
690
199
(383)
1,578

Such receivables collateralize our secured, revolving foreign credit facility, whose balance was $163 million and $159 million as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008,
respectively.

Covenants
The revolving credit facility and unsecured term loan are subject to covenants including the maintenance of specific financial ratios. The financial ratio covenants
consist of a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of at least 3.0 to 1.0 as of the measurement date and a maximum consolidated leverage ratio not to
exceed 3.5 to 1.0 on the measurement date. The consolidated interest coverage ratio is calculated by dividing Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the credit
agreement) by Consolidated Interest Expense (as defined in the credit agreement), both as measured on a trailing 12 month basis preceding the measurement date.
As of September 30, 2009, our interest coverage ratio was 23.8 times. Consolidated Interest Expense excludes, among other things, interest expense on any
Securitization Indebtedness (as defined in the credit agreement). The consolidated leverage ratio is calculated by dividing Consolidated Total Indebtedness (as
defined in the credit agreement and which excludes, among other things, Securitization Indebtedness) as of the measurement date by Consolidated EBITDA as
measured on a trailing 12 month basis preceding the measurement date. As of September 30, 2009, our leverage ratio was 2.4 times. Covenants in these credit
facilities also include limitations on indebtedness of material subsidiaries; liens; mergers, consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions; sale of all or substantially
all assets; and sale and leaseback transactions. Events of default in these credit facilities include failure to pay interest, principal and fees when due; breach of
covenants; acceleration of or failure to pay other debt in excess of $50 million (excluding securitization indebtedness); insolvency matters; and a change of
control.
The 6.00% senior unsecured notes and 9.875% senior unsecured notes contain various covenants including limitations on liens, limitations on potential sale and
leaseback transactions and change of control restrictions. In addition, there are limitations on mergers, consolidations and potential sale of all or substantially all of
our assets. Events of default in the notes include failure to pay interest and principal when due, breach of a covenant or warranty, acceleration of other debt in
excess of $50 million and insolvency matters. The Convertible Notes do not contain affirmative or negative covenants, however, the limitations on mergers,
consolidations and potential sale of all or substantially all of our assets and the events of default for our senior unsecured notes are applicable to such notes.
Holders of the Convertible Notes have the right to require us to repurchase the Convertible Notes at 100% of principal plus accrued and unpaid interest in the
event of a
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fundamental change, defined to include, among other things, a change of control, certain recapitalizations and if our common stock is no longer listed on a
national securities exchange.
The vacation ownership secured bank facility contains covenants including a consumer loan coverage ratio that requires that the aggregate principal amount of
consumer loans that are current on payments must exceed 75% of the aggregate principal amount of all consumer loans in the applicable loan portfolio. If the
aggregate principal amount of current consumer loans falls below this threshold, we must pay the bank syndicate cash to cover the shortfall. This ratio is also used
to set the advance rate under the facility. The facility contains other typical restrictions and covenants including limitations on mergers, partnerships and certain
asset sales.
As of September 30, 2009, we were in compliance with all of the covenants described above including the required financial ratios.
Each of our non-recourse, securitized note borrowings contains various triggers relating to the performance of the applicable loan pools. For example, if the
vacation ownership contract receivables pool that collateralizes one of our securitization notes fails to perform within the parameters established by the contractual
triggers (such as higher default or delinquency rates), there are provisions pursuant to which the cash flows for that pool will be maintained in the securitization as
extra collateral for the note holders or applied to amortize the outstanding principal held by the noteholders. As of September 30, 2009, all of our securitized pools
were in compliance with applicable triggers.
LIQUIDITY RISK
Our vacation ownership business finances certain of its receivables through (i) an asset-backed bank conduit facility and (ii) periodically accessing the capital
markets by issuing asset-backed securities. None of the currently outstanding asset-backed securities contains any recourse provisions to us other than interest rate
risk related to swap counterparties (solely to the extent that the amount outstanding on our notes differs from the forecasted amortization schedule at the time of
issuance).
Certain of these asset-backed securities are insured by monoline insurers. Currently, the monoline insurers that we have used in the past and other guarantee
insurance providers are no longer AAA rated and remain under significant ratings pressure. Since monoline insurers are not positioned to write new policies, the
cost of such insurance has increased and the insurance has become difficult or impossible to obtain due to (i) decreased competition in that business, including a
reduced number of monolines that may issue new policies due to either (a) loss of AAA/Aaa ratings from the rating agencies or (b) lack of confidence of market
participants in the value of such insurance and (ii) the increased spreads paid to bond investors. Since the beginning of 2008, none of our securitization
transactions has been issued with monoline insurance.
Throughout 2008 and 2009, the asset-backed securities market and commercial paper markets in the United States suffered adverse market conditions. As a result,
during 2009, our cost of securitized borrowings increased due to increased spreads over relevant benchmarks. In response to the tightened asset-backed credit
environment, our plan has been and continues to be to reduce our need to access the asset-backed securities market during 2009. In spite of the environment, we
successfully accessed the term securitization market during 2009, as demonstrated by the closing of five term securitization transactions, which are discussed in
further detail in Note 6 — Long-Term Debt and Borrowing Arrangements and Note 16 — Subsequent Events. However, the credit markets continue to provide
limited access to issuers of vacation ownership receivables asset-backed securities.
Our vacation ownership business has begun to reduce its sales pace of VOIs from 2008 to 2009, as expected, by approximately 40%. Accordingly, we believe that
the 2008 bank conduit facility, which was renewed on October 23, 2009 through October 2010 with capacity reduced to $600 million, should provide sufficient
liquidity for the lower expected sales pace and we expect to have available liquidity to finance the sale of VOIs. The 2008 bank conduit facility had available
capacity of $430 million as of the date of the closing of the renewal. The outstanding balance on our previous bank conduit facility was repaid on October 8,
2009.
At September 30, 2009, we had $849 million of availability under our revolving credit facility. To the extent that the recent increases in funding costs in the
securitization and commercial paper markets persist, they will negatively impact the cost of such borrowings. A continued disruption to the asset-backed or
commercial paper markets could adversely impact our ability to obtain such financings.
Our Wyndham Vacation Resorts Asia Pacific Pty Ltd. operations are funded by a 364-day secured, revolving foreign credit facility with a total capacity of AUD
213 million. We closed on a facility with capacity of AUD 193 million during June 2009 and an additional bank joined the facility during July 2009, increasing
the capacity to AUD 213 million (see Note 6 — Long-Term Debt and Borrowing Arrangements). This facility had a total of $163 million outstanding as of
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September 30, 2009 and is secured by consumer loan receivables, as well as a standard Wyndham Worldwide Corporation guaranty.
Some of our vacation ownership developments are supported by surety bonds provided by affiliates of certain insurance companies in order to meet regulatory
requirements of certain states. In the ordinary course of our business, we have assembled commitments from fourteen surety providers in the amount of
$1.4 billion, of which we had $536 million outstanding as of September 30, 2009. The availability, terms and conditions, and pricing of such bonding capacity is
dependent on, among other things, continued financial strength and stability of the insurance company affiliates providing such bonding capacity, the general
availability of such capacity and our corporate credit rating. If such bonding capacity is unavailable or, alternatively, if the terms and conditions and pricing of
such bonding capacity are unacceptable to us, the cost of development of our vacation ownership units could be negatively impacted.
Our liquidity position may also be negatively affected by unfavorable conditions in the capital markets in which we operate or if our vacation ownership contract
receivables portfolios do not meet specified portfolio credit parameters. Our liquidity as it relates to our vacation ownership contract receivables securitization
program could be adversely affected if we were to fail to renew or replace our conduit facility on its annual expiration date or if a particular receivables pool were
to fail to meet certain ratios, which could occur in certain instances if the default rates or other credit metrics of the underlying vacation ownership contract
receivables deteriorate. Our ability to sell securities backed by our vacation ownership contract receivables depends on the continued ability and willingness of
capital market participants to invest in such securities.
Our senior unsecured debt is rated BBB- with a “negative outlook” by Standard and Poor’s (“S&P”). During April 2009, Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”)
downgraded our senior unsecured debt rating to Ba2 (and our corporate family rating to Ba1) with a “stable outlook”. A security rating is not a recommendation to
buy, sell or hold securities and is subject to revision or withdrawal by the assigning rating organization. Currently, we expect no (i) material increase in interest
expense and/or (ii) material reduction in the availability of bonding capacity from the aforementioned downgrade or negative outlook; however, a further
downgrade by Moody’s and/or S&P could impact our future borrowing and/or bonding costs and availability of such bonding capacity.
As a result of the sale of Realogy on April 10, 2007, Realogy’s senior debt credit rating was downgraded to below investment grade. Under the Separation
Agreement, if Realogy experienced such a change of control and suffered such a ratings downgrade, it was required to post a letter of credit in an amount
acceptable to us and Avis Budget Group to satisfy the fair value of Realogy’s indemnification obligations for the Cendant legacy contingent liabilities in the event
Realogy does not otherwise satisfy such obligations to the extent they become due. On April 26, 2007, Realogy posted a $500 million irrevocable standby letter of
credit from a major commercial bank in favor of Avis Budget Group and upon which demand may be made if Realogy does not otherwise satisfy its obligations
for its share of the Cendant legacy contingent liabilities. The letter of credit can be adjusted from time to time based upon the outstanding contingent liabilities
and has an expiration date of September 2013, subject to renewal and certain provisions. As such, on August 11, 2009, the letter of credit was reduced to
$446 million. The issuance of this letter of credit does not relieve or limit Realogy’s obligations for these liabilities.
SEASONALITY
We experience seasonal fluctuations in our net revenues and net income from our franchise and management fees, commission income earned from renting
vacation properties, annual subscription fees or annual membership dues, as applicable, and exchange transaction fees and sales of VOIs. Revenues from franchise
and management fees are generally higher in the second and third quarters than in the first or fourth quarters, because of increased leisure travel during the
summer months. Revenues from rental income earned from vacation rentals are generally highest in the third quarter, when vacation rentals are highest. Revenues
from vacation exchange transaction fees are generally highest in the first quarter, which is generally when members of our vacation exchange business plan and
book their vacations for the year. Revenues from sales of VOIs are generally higher in the second and third quarters than in other quarters. The seasonality of our
business may cause fluctuations in our quarterly operating results. As we expand into new markets and geographical locations, we may experience increased or
different seasonality dynamics that create fluctuations in operating results different from the fluctuations we have experienced in the past.
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SEPARATION ADJUSTMENTS AND TRANSACTIONS WITH FORMER PARENT AND SUBSIDIARIES
Transfer of Cendant Corporate Liabilities and Issuance of Guarantees to Cendant and Affiliates
Pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement, upon the distribution of our common stock to Cendant shareholders, we entered into certain guarantee
commitments with Cendant (pursuant to the assumption of certain liabilities and the obligation to indemnify Cendant, Realogy and Travelport for such liabilities)
and guarantee commitments related to deferred compensation arrangements with each of Cendant and Realogy. These guarantee arrangements primarily relate to
certain contingent litigation liabilities, contingent tax liabilities, and Cendant contingent and other corporate liabilities, of which we assumed and are responsible
for 37.5%, while Realogy is responsible for the remaining 62.5%. The amount of liabilities which we assumed in connection with the Separation was $310 million
and $343 million at September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively. These amounts were comprised of certain Cendant corporate liabilities which were
recorded on the books of Cendant as well as additional liabilities which were established for guarantees issued at the date of Separation related to certain
unresolved contingent matters and certain others that could arise during the guarantee period. Regarding the guarantees, if any of the companies responsible for all
or a portion of such liabilities were to default in its payment of costs or expenses related to any such liability, we would be responsible for a portion of the
defaulting party or parties’ obligation. We also provided a default guarantee related to certain deferred compensation arrangements related to certain current and
former senior officers and directors of Cendant, Realogy and Travelport. These arrangements, which are discussed in more detail below, have been valued upon
the Separation in accordance with ASC 460, “Guarantees” (FASB Interpretation No. 45 “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others”) and recorded as liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. To the extent such recorded liabilities
are not adequate to cover the ultimate payment amounts, such excess will be reflected as an expense to the results of operations in future periods.
The $310 million of Separation related liabilities is comprised of $5 million for litigation matters, $273 million for tax liabilities, $24 million for liabilities of
previously sold businesses of Cendant, $6 million for other contingent and corporate liabilities and $2 million of liabilities where the calculated ASC 460
guarantee amount exceeded the ASC 450, “Contingencies” (SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”) liability assumed at the date of Separation. In
connection with these liabilities, $42 million are recorded in current due to former Parent and subsidiaries and $266 million are recorded in long-term due to
former Parent and subsidiaries at September 30, 2009 on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. We are indemnifying Cendant for these contingent liabilities and
therefore any payments would be made to the third party through the former Parent. The $2 million relating to the ASC 460 guarantees is recorded in other
current liabilities at September 30, 2009 on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The actual timing of payments relating to these liabilities is dependent on a variety of
factors beyond our control. See Contractual Obligations for the estimated timing of such payments. In addition, at September 30, 2009, we have $4 million of
receivables due from former Parent and subsidiaries primarily relating to income taxes, which is recorded in other current assets on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet. Such receivables totaled $3 million at December 31, 2008.
Following is a discussion of the liabilities on which we issued guarantees:
·

Contingent litigation liabilities We assumed 37.5% of liabilities for certain litigation relating to, arising out of or resulting from certain lawsuits
in which Cendant is named as the defendant. The indemnification obligation will continue until the underlying lawsuits are resolved. We will
indemnify Cendant to the extent that Cendant is required to make payments related to any of the underlying lawsuits. As the indemnification
obligation relates to matters in various stages of litigation, the maximum exposure cannot be quantified. Due to the inherently uncertain nature of
the litigation process, the timing of payments related to these liabilities cannot be reasonably predicted, but is expected to occur over several years.
Since the Separation, Cendant settled a majority of these lawsuits and we assumed a portion of the related indemnification obligations. As
discussed above, for each settlement, we paid 37.5% of the aggregate settlement amount to Cendant. Our payment obligations under the
settlements were greater or less than our accruals, depending on the matter. On September 7, 2007, Cendant received an adverse ruling in a
litigation matter for which we retained a 37.5% indemnification obligation. The judgment on the adverse ruling was entered on May 16, 2008. On
May 23, 2008, Cendant filed an appeal of the judgment and, on July 1, 2009, an order was entered denying the appeal. As a result of the denial of
the appeal, Realogy and we determined to pay the judgment. On July 23, 2009, we paid our portion of the aforementioned judgment ($37 million).
Although the judgment for the underlying liability for this matter has been paid, the phase of the litigation involving the determination of fees owed
the plaintiffs’ attorneys remains pending. Similar to the contingent liability, we are responsible for 37.5% of any attorneys’ fees payable. As a result
of settlements and payments to Cendant, as well as other reductions and accruals for developments in active litigation matters, our aggregate
accrual for outstanding Cendant contingent litigation liabilities was $5 million at September 30, 2009.
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·

Contingent tax liabilities Prior to the Separation, we were included in the consolidated federal and state income tax returns of Cendant through the
Separation date for the 2006 period then ended. We are generally liable for 37.5% of certain contingent tax liabilities. In addition, each of us,
Cendant and Realogy may be responsible for 100% of certain of Cendant’s tax liabilities that will provide the responsible party with a future,
offsetting tax benefit. We will pay to Cendant the amount of taxes allocated pursuant to the Tax Sharing Agreement, as amended during the third
quarter of 2008, for the payment of certain taxes. As a result of the amendment to the Tax Sharing Agreement, we recorded a gross up of our
contingent tax liability and have a corresponding deferred tax asset of $32 million as of September 30, 2009.
During the first quarter of 2007, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) opened an examination for Cendant’s taxable years 2003 through 2006
during which we were included in Cendant’s tax returns. As of September 30, 2009, our accrual for outstanding Cendant contingent tax liabilities
was $273 million. This liability will remain outstanding until tax audits related to taxable years 2003 through 2006 are completed or the statutes of
limitations governing such tax years have passed. Balances due to Cendant for these pre-Separation tax returns and related tax attributes were
estimated as of December 31, 2006 and have since been adjusted in connection with the filing of the pre-Separation tax returns. These balances will
again be adjusted after the ultimate settlement of the related tax audits of these periods. Our maximum exposure cannot be quantified as tax
regulations are subject to interpretation and the outcome of tax audits or litigation is inherently uncertain.

·

Cendant contingent and other corporate liabilities We have assumed 37.5% of corporate liabilities of Cendant including liabilities relating to
(i) Cendant’s terminated or divested businesses; (ii) liabilities relating to the Travelport sale, if any; and (iii) generally any actions with respect to
the Separation plan or the distributions brought by any third party. Our maximum exposure to loss cannot be quantified as this guarantee relates
primarily to future claims that may be made against Cendant. We assessed the probability and amount of potential liability related to this guarantee
based on the extent and nature of historical experience.

·

Guarantee related to deferred compensation arrangements In the event that Cendant, Realogy and/or Travelport are not able to meet certain
deferred compensation obligations under specified plans for certain current and former officers and directors because of bankruptcy or insolvency,
we have guaranteed such obligations (to the extent relating to amounts deferred in respect of 2005 and earlier). This guarantee will remain
outstanding until such deferred compensation balances are distributed to the respective officers and directors. The maximum exposure cannot be
quantified as the guarantee, in part, is related to the value of deferred investments as of the date of the requested distribution.

See Item 1A. Risk Factors for further information related to contingent liabilities.
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
The following table summarizes our future contractual obligations for the twelve month periods set forth below:
10/1/099/30/10

Securitized debt (a)
Long-term debt (b)
Operating leases
Other purchase commitments (c)
Contingent liabilities (d)
Total (e)

$

$

291
176
67
184
42
760

10/1/109/30/11

$

380
345
59
104
268
1,156

$

10/1/119/30/12

$

$

190
324
45
62
—
621

10/1/129/30/13

$

$

207
11
32
7
—
257

10/1/139/30/14

$

$

204
249
25
4
—
482

Thereafter

$

$

332
884
111
182
—
1,509

Total

$

$

1,604
1,989
339
543
310
4,785

(a)

Amounts exclude interest expense, as the amounts ultimately paid will depend on amounts outstanding under our secured obligations and interest rates in effect during each period.

(b)

Excludes future cash payments related to interest expense on our 6.00% senior unsecured notes, term loan, 9.875% senior unsecured notes and convertible notes of $100 million during the
twelve month period from 10/1/09-9/30/10, $97 million during the twelve month period from 10/1/10-9/30/11, $78 million during the period from 10/1/11-9/30/12, $73 million during the
period from 10/1/12-9/30/13, $64 million during the twelve month period from 10/1/13-9/30/14 and $108 million thereafter.

(c)

Primarily represents commitments for the development of vacation ownership properties. Such total includes approximately $105 million of vacation ownership development commitments
which we may terminate at minimal or no cost and 10/1/09 — 9/30/10 includes approximately $13 million of vacation ownership commitments that can be delayed until 2011 or later.

(d)

Primarily represents certain contingent litigation liabilities, contingent tax liabilities and 37.5% of Cendant contingent and other corporate liabilities, which we assumed and are responsible
for pursuant to our Separation.

(e)

Excludes $28 million of our liability for unrecognized tax benefits associated with ASC 740 (FIN 48) since it is not reasonably estimatable to determine the periods in which such liability
would be settled with the respective tax authorities.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
In presenting our financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, we are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported therein. Several of the estimates and assumptions we are required to make relate to matters that are inherently uncertain as they pertain to
future events. However, events that are outside of our control cannot be predicted and, as such, they cannot be contemplated in evaluating such estimates and
assumptions. If there is a significant unfavorable change to current conditions, it could result in a material adverse impact to our consolidated results of operations,
financial position and liquidity. We believe that the estimates and assumptions we used when preparing our financial statements were the most appropriate at that
time. These Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements included in the
Annual Report filed on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2009, which includes a description of our critical accounting
policies that involve subjective and complex judgments that could potentially affect reported results. While there have been no material changes to our critical
accounting policies as to the methodologies or assumptions we apply under them, we continue to monitor such methodologies and assumptions.
Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks.

We assess our market risk based on changes in interest and foreign currency exchange rates utilizing a sensitivity analysis that measures the potential impact in
earnings, fair values, and cash flows based on a hypothetical 10% change (increase and decrease) in interest and foreign currency rates. We used September 30,
2009 market rates to perform a sensitivity analysis separately for each of our market risk exposures. The estimates assume instantaneous, parallel shifts in interest
rate yield curves and exchange rates. We have determined, through such analyses, that the impact of a 10% change in interest and foreign currency exchange rates
and prices on our earnings, fair values and cash flows would not be material.
Item 4.

Controls and Procedures.

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)), as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that, as of the end of such period, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.
(b) Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the period to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.
PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
Wyndham Worldwide Litigation
We are involved in claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of our business including but not limited to: for our lodging business—breach of
contract, fraud and bad faith claims between franchisors and franchisees in connection with franchise agreements and with owners in connection with management
contracts, as well as consumer protection claims, fraud and other statutory claims and negligence claims asserted in connection with alleged acts or occurrences at
franchised or managed properties; for our vacation exchange and rentals business—breach of contract claims by both affiliates and members in connection with
their respective agreements, bad faith, consumer protection, fraud and other statutory claims asserted by members and negligence claims by guests for alleged
injuries sustained at resorts; for our vacation ownership business—breach of contract, bad faith, conflict of interest, fraud, consumer protection claims and other
statutory claims by property owners’ associations, owners and prospective owners in connection with the sale or use of vacation ownership interests, land or the
management of vacation ownership resorts, construction defect claims relating to vacation ownership units or resorts and negligence claims by guests for alleged
injuries sustained at vacation ownership units or resorts; and for each of our businesses, bankruptcy proceedings involving efforts to collect receivables from a
debtor in bankruptcy, employment matters involving claims of discrimination, harassment and wage and hour claims, claims of infringement upon third parties’
intellectual property rights, tax claims and environmental claims.
Cendant Litigation
Under the Separation Agreement, we agreed to be responsible for 37.5% of certain of Cendant’s contingent and other corporate liabilities and associated costs,
including certain contingent litigation. Since the Separation, Cendant settled the majority of the lawsuits pending on the date of the Separation. The pending
Cendant contingent litigation that we deem to be material is further discussed in Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ITEM 1A.

Risk Factors

Before you invest in our securities you should carefully consider each of the following risk factors and all of the other information provided in this report. We
believe that the following information identifies the most significant risk factors affecting us. However, the risks and uncertainties we face are not limited to those
set forth in the risk factors described below. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also
adversely affect our business. In addition, past financial performance may not be a reliable indicator of future performance and historical trends should not be
used to anticipate results or trends in future periods.
If any of the following risks and uncertainties develops into actual events, these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or
results of operations. In such case, the trading price of our common stock could decline.
The hospitality industry is highly competitive and we are subject to risks relating to competition that may adversely affect our performance.
We will be adversely impacted if we cannot compete effectively in the highly competitive hospitality industry. Our continued success depends upon our ability to
compete effectively in markets that contain numerous competitors, some of which may have significantly greater financial, marketing and other resources than we
have. Competition may reduce fee structures, potentially causing us to lower our fees or prices, which may adversely impact our profits. New competition or
existing competition that uses a business model that is different from our business model may put pressure on us to change our model so that we can remain
competitive.
Our revenues are highly dependent on the travel industry and declines in or disruptions to the travel industry, such as those caused by economic
slowdown, terrorism, acts of God and war may adversely affect us.
Declines in or disruptions to the travel industry may adversely impact us. Risks affecting the travel industry include: economic slowdown and recession; economic
factors, such as increased costs of living and reduced discretionary income, adversely impacting consumers’ and businesses’ decisions to use and consume travel
services and products; terrorist incidents and threats (and associated heightened travel security measures); acts of God (such as earthquakes, hurricanes, fires,
floods and other natural disasters); war; pandemics or threat of pandemics; increased pricing, financial instability and capacity constraints of air carriers; airline
job actions and strikes; and increases in gasoline and other fuel prices.
We are subject to operating or other risks common to the hospitality industry.
Our business is subject to numerous operating or other risks common to the hospitality industry including:
·

changes in operating costs, including energy, labor costs (including minimum wage increases and unionization), workers’ compensation and healthcare related costs and insurance;

·

changes in desirability of geographic regions of the hotels or resorts in our business;

·

changes in the supply and demand for hotel rooms, vacation exchange and rental services and vacation ownership products and services;

·

seasonality in our businesses may cause fluctuations in our operating results;

·

geographic concentrations of our operations and customers;

·

increases in costs due to inflation that may not be fully offset by price and fee increases in our business;

·

availability of acceptable financing and cost of capital as they apply to us, our customers, current and potential hotel franchisees and developers,
owners of hotels with which we have hotel management contracts, our RCI affiliates and other developers of vacation ownership resorts;

·

our ability to securitize the receivables that we originate in connection with sales of vacation ownership interests;

·

the risk that purchasers of vacation ownership interests who finance a portion of the purchase price default on their loans due to adverse macro or
personal economic conditions or otherwise, which would increase loan loss reserves and adversely affect loan portfolio performance, each of
which would negatively impact our results of operations; that if such defaults occur during the early part of the loan amortization period we will not
have recovered the marketing, selling, administrative and other costs associated with such vacation ownership interest; such costs will be incurred
again in connection with the resale of the repossessed vacation ownership interest; and the value we recover in a default is not, in all instances,
sufficient to cover the outstanding debt;

·

the quality of the services provided by franchisees, our vacation exchange and rentals business, resorts with units that are exchanged through our
vacation exchange business and/or resorts in which we sell vacation ownership interests may adversely affect our image and reputation;
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·

our ability to generate sufficient cash to buy from third-party suppliers the products that we need to provide to the participants in our points
programs who want to redeem points for such products;

·

overbuilding in one or more segments of the hospitality industry and/or in one or more geographic regions;

·

changes in the number and occupancy rates of hotels operating under franchise and management agreements;

·

changes in the relative mix of franchised hotels in the various lodging industry price categories;

·

our ability to develop and maintain positive relations and contractual arrangements with current and potential franchisees, hotel owners, vacation
exchange members, vacation ownership interest owners, resorts with units that are exchanged through our vacation exchange business and/or
owners of vacation properties that our vacation rentals business markets for rental;

·

the availability of and competition for desirable sites for the development of vacation ownership properties; difficulties associated with obtaining
entitlements to develop vacation ownership properties; liability under state and local laws with respect to any construction defects in the vacation
ownership properties we develop; and our ability to adjust our pace of completion of resort development relative to the pace of our sales of the
underlying vacation ownership interests;

·

private resale of vacation ownership interests could adversely affect our vacation ownership resorts and vacation exchange businesses;

·

revenues from our lodging business are indirectly affected by our franchisees’ pricing decisions;

·

organized labor activities and associated litigation;

·

maintenance and infringement of our intellectual property;

·

increases in the use of third-party Internet services to book online hotel reservations could adversely impact our revenues; and

·

disruptions in relationships with third parties, including marketing alliances and affiliations with e-commerce channels.

We may not be able to achieve our growth objectives.
We may not be able to achieve our objectives for increasing the number of franchised and/or managed properties in our lodging business, the number of vacation
exchange members acquired by our vacation exchange business, the number of rental weeks sold by our vacation rentals business and the number of quality tours
generated and vacation ownership interests sold by our vacation ownership business.
We may be unable to identify acquisition targets that complement our businesses, and if we are able to identify suitable acquisition targets, we may not be able to
complete acquisitions on commercially reasonable terms. Our ability to complete acquisitions depends on a variety of factors, including our ability to obtain
financing on acceptable terms and requisite government approvals. If we are able to complete acquisitions, there is no assurance that we will be able to achieve the
revenue and cost benefits that we expected in connection with such acquisitions or to successfully integrate the acquired businesses into our existing operations.
Our international operations are subject to risks not generally applicable to our domestic operations.
Our international operations are subject to numerous risks including: exposure to local economic conditions; potential adverse changes in the diplomatic relations
of foreign countries with the United States; hostility from local populations; restrictions and taxes on the withdrawal of foreign investment and earnings;
government policies against businesses owned by foreigners; investment restrictions or requirements; diminished ability to legally enforce our contractual rights
in foreign countries; foreign exchange restrictions; fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; local laws might conflict with U.S. laws; withholding and
other taxes on remittances and other payments by subsidiaries; and changes in and application of foreign taxation structures including value added taxes.
We are subject to risks related to litigation filed by or against us.
We are subject to a number of legal actions and the risk of future litigation as described under “Legal Proceedings”. We cannot predict with certainty the ultimate
outcome and related damages and costs of litigation and other proceedings filed by or against us. Adverse results in litigation and other proceedings may harm our
business.
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We are subject to certain risks related to our indebtedness, hedging transactions, our securitization of assets, our surety bond requirements, the cost and
availability of capital and the extension of credit by us.
We are a borrower of funds under our credit facilities, credit lines, senior notes and securitization financings. We extend credit when we finance purchases of
vacation ownership interests. We use financial instruments to reduce or hedge our financial exposure to the effects of currency and interest rate fluctuations. We
are required to post surety bonds in connection with our development activities. In connection with our debt obligations, hedging transactions, the securitization of
certain of our assets, our surety bond requirements, the cost and availability of capital and the extension of credit by us, we are subject to numerous risks
including:
·

our cash flows from operations or available lines of credit may be insufficient to meet required payments of principal and interest, which could
result in a default and acceleration of the underlying debt;

·

if we are unable to comply with the terms of the financial covenants under our revolving credit facility, including a breach of the financial ratios or
tests, such non-compliance could result in a default and acceleration of the underlying revolver debt and other debt that is cross-defaulted to these
financial ratios;

·

our leverage may adversely affect our ability to obtain additional financing;

·

our leverage may require the dedication of a significant portion of our cash flows to the payment of principal and interest thus reducing the
availability of cash flows to fund working capital, capital expenditures or other operating needs;

·

increases in interest rates;

·

rating agency downgrades for our debt that could increase our borrowing costs;

·

failure or non-performance of counterparties for foreign exchange and interest rate hedging transactions;

·

we may not be able to securitize our vacation ownership contract receivables on terms acceptable to us because of, among other factors, the
performance of the vacation ownership contract receivables, adverse conditions in the market for vacation ownership loan-backed notes and assetbacked notes in general, the credit quality and financial stability of insurers of securitizations transactions, and the risk that the actual amount of
uncollectible accounts on our securitized vacation ownership contract receivables and other credit we extend is greater than expected;

·

our securitizations contain portfolio performance triggers which, if violated, may result in a disruption or loss of cash flow from such transactions;

·

a reduction in commitments from surety bond providers may impair our vacation ownership business by requiring us to escrow cash in order to
meet regulatory requirements of certain states;

·

prohibitive cost and inadequate availability of capital could restrict the development or acquisition of vacation ownership resorts by us and the
financing of purchases of vacation ownership interests; and

·

if interest rates increase significantly, we may not be able to increase the interest rate offered to finance purchases of vacation ownership interests
by the same amount of the increase.

Current economic conditions in the hospitality industry and in the global economy generally, including ongoing disruptions in the debt and equity
capital markets, may adversely affect our business and results of operations, our ability to obtain financing and/or securitize our receivables on
reasonable and acceptable terms, the performance of our loan portfolio and the market price of our common stock.
The global economy is currently undergoing a recession, and the future economic environment may continue to be less favorable than that of recent years. The
hospitality industry has experienced and may continue to experience significant downturns in connection with, or in anticipation of, declines in general economic
conditions. The current economic downturn has been characterized by higher unemployment, lower family income, lower corporate earnings, lower business
investment and lower consumer spending, leading to lower demand for hospitality products and services. Declines in consumer and commercial spending
adversely affect our revenues and profits. We are unable to predict the likely duration and severity of the current adverse economic conditions and disruptions in
debt and equity capital markets in the United States and other countries.
The global stock and credit markets have experienced significant price volatility, dislocations and liquidity disruptions, which have caused market prices of many
stocks to fluctuate substantially and the spreads on prospective and outstanding debt financings to widen considerably. These circumstances have materially
impacted liquidity in the financial markets, making terms for certain financings materially less attractive, and in certain cases have resulted in the unavailability of
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certain types of financing. This volatility and illiquidity has negatively affected a broad range of mortgage and asset-backed and other fixed income securities. As
a result, the market for fixed income securities has experienced decreased liquidity, increased price volatility, credit downgrade events, and increased defaults.
These factors and the continuing market disruption have an adverse effect on us, in part because we, like many public companies, from time to time raise capital
in debt and equity capital markets including in the asset-backed securities markets.
Our liquidity position may also be negatively affected if our vacation ownership contract receivables portfolios do not meet specified portfolio credit parameters.
Our liquidity as it relates to our vacation ownership contract receivables securitization program could be adversely affected if we were to fail to renew or replace
any of the facilities on their renewal dates or if a particular receivables pool were to fail to meet certain ratios, which could occur in certain instances if the default
rates or other credit metrics of the underlying vacation ownership contract receivables deteriorate. Our ability to sell securities backed by our vacation ownership
contract receivables depends on the continued ability and willingness of capital market participants to invest in such securities. Our ability to engage in
securitization transactions on favorable terms or at all has been adversely affected by the disruptions in the capital markets and other events, including actions by
rating agencies and deteriorating investor expectations. It is possible that asset-backed securities issued pursuant to our securitization programs could in the future
be downgraded by credit agencies. If a downgrade occurs, our ability to complete other securitization transactions on acceptable terms or at all could be
jeopardized, and we could be forced to rely on other potentially more expensive and less attractive funding sources, to the extent available, which would decrease
our profitability and may require us to adjust our business operations accordingly, including reducing or suspending our financing to purchasers of vacation
ownership interests.
In addition, continued uncertainty in the stock and credit markets may negatively affect our ability to access additional short-term and long-term financing on
reasonable terms or at all, which would negatively impact our liquidity and financial condition. In addition, if one or more of the financial institutions that support
our existing credit facilities fails, we may not be able to find a replacement, which would negatively impact our ability to borrow under the credit facilities. These
disruptions in the financial markets also may adversely affect our credit rating and the market value of our common stock. If the current pressures on credit
continue or worsen, we may not be able to refinance, if necessary, our outstanding debt when due, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
While we believe we have adequate sources of liquidity to meet our anticipated requirements for working capital, debt servicing and capital expenditures for the
foreseeable future, if our operating results worsen significantly and our cash flow or capital resources prove inadequate, or if interest rates increase significantly,
we could face liquidity problems that could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
Several of our businesses are subject to extensive regulation and the cost of compliance or failure to comply with such regulations may adversely affect
us.
Our businesses are heavily regulated by the states or provinces (including local governments) and countries in which our operations are conducted. In addition,
domestic and foreign federal, state and local regulators may enact new laws and regulations that may reduce our revenues, cause our expenses to increase and/or
require us to modify substantially our business practices. If we are not in substantial compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including, among others,
franchising, timeshare, lending, privacy, marketing and sales, telemarketing, licensing, labor, employment, health care, immigration, corporate governance,
gaming, environmental and regulations applicable under the Office of Foreign Asset Control and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, we may be subject to
regulatory actions, fines, penalties and potential criminal prosecution.
We are dependent on our senior management.
We believe that our future growth depends, in part, on the continued services of our senior management team. Losing the services of any members of our senior
management team could adversely affect our strategic and customer relationships and impede our ability to execute our business strategies.
Our inability to adequately protect our intellectual property could adversely affect our business.
Our inability to adequately protect our trademarks, trade dress and other intellectual property rights could adversely affect our business. We generate, maintain,
utilize and enforce a substantial portfolio of trademarks, trade dress and other intellectual property that are fundamental to the brands that we use in all of our
businesses. There can be no assurance that the steps we take to protect our intellectual property will be adequate.
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Disruptions and other impairment of our information technologies and systems could adversely affect our business.
Any disaster, disruption or other impairment in our technology capabilities could harm our business. Our businesses depend upon the use of sophisticated
information technologies and systems, including technology and systems utilized for reservation systems, vacation exchange systems, property management,
communications, procurement, member record databases, call centers, operation of our loyalty programs and administrative systems. The operation, maintenance
and updating of these technologies and systems is dependent upon internal and third-party technologies, systems and services for which there is no assurance of
uninterrupted availability or adequate protection.
Failure to maintain the security of personally identifiable information could adversely affect us.
In connection with our business, we and our service providers collect and retain significant volumes of personally identifiable information, including credit card
numbers of our customers and other personally identifiable information of our customers, stockholders and employees. Our customers, stockholders and
employees expect that we will adequately protect their personal information, and the regulatory environment surrounding information security and privacy is
increasingly demanding, both in the United States and other jurisdictions in which we operate. A significant theft, loss or fraudulent use of customer, stockholder,
employee or Company data by cybercrime or otherwise could adversely impact our reputation and could result in significant costs, fines and litigation.
The market price of our shares may fluctuate.
The market price of our common stock may fluctuate depending upon many factors some of which may be beyond our control, including: our quarterly or annual
earnings or those of other companies in our industry; actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results due to seasonality and other factors related to our
business; changes in accounting principles or rules; announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions or dispositions; the failure of securities
analysts to cover our common stock; changes in earnings estimates by securities analysts or our ability to meet those estimates; the operating and stock price
performance of comparable companies; overall market fluctuations; and general economic conditions. Stock markets in general have experienced volatility that
has often been unrelated to the operating performance of a particular company. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our
common stock.
Your percentage ownership in Wyndham Worldwide may be diluted in the future.
Your percentage ownership in Wyndham Worldwide may be diluted in the future because of equity awards that we expect will be granted over time to our
directors, officers and employees as well as due to the exercise of options issued. In addition, our Board may issue shares of our common and preferred stock, and
debt securities convertible into shares of our common and preferred stock, up to certain regulatory thresholds without shareholder approval.
Provisions in our certificate of incorporation, by-laws and under Delaware law may prevent or delay an acquisition of our Company, which could
impact the trading price of our common stock.
Our certificate of incorporation, by-laws and Delaware law contain provisions that are intended to deter coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids
by making such practices or bids unacceptably expensive and to encourage prospective acquirors to negotiate with our Board rather than to attempt a hostile
takeover. These provisions include: a Board of Directors that is divided into three classes with staggered terms; elimination of the right of our stockholders to act
by written consent; rules regarding how stockholders may present proposals or nominate directors for election at stockholder meetings; the right of our Board to
issue preferred stock without stockholder approval; and limitations on the right of stockholders to remove directors. Delaware law also imposes restrictions on
mergers and other business combinations between us and any holder of 15% or more of our outstanding common stock.
We cannot provide assurance that we will continue to pay dividends.
There can be no assurance that we will have sufficient surplus under Delaware law to be able to continue to pay dividends. This may result from extraordinary
cash expenses, actual expenses exceeding contemplated costs, funding of capital expenditures, increases in reserves or lack of available capital. Our Board of
Directors may also suspend the payment of dividends if the Board deems such action to be in the best interests of the Company or stockholders. If we do not pay
dividends, the price of our common stock must appreciate for you to realize a gain on your investment in Wyndham Worldwide. This appreciation may not occur,
and our stock may in fact depreciate in value.
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We are responsible for certain of Cendant’s contingent and other corporate liabilities.
Under the separation agreement and the tax sharing agreement that we executed with Cendant (now Avis Budget Group) and former Cendant units, Realogy and
Travelport, we and Realogy generally are responsible for 37.5% and 62.5%, respectively, of certain of Cendant’s contingent and other corporate liabilities and
associated costs, including taxes imposed on Cendant and certain other subsidiaries and certain contingent and other corporate liabilities of Cendant and/or its
subsidiaries to the extent incurred on or prior to August 23, 2006, including liabilities relating to certain of Cendant’s terminated or divested businesses, the
Travelport sale, the Cendant litigation described in this report under “Cendant Litigation,” actions with respect to the separation plan and payments under certain
contracts that were not allocated to any specific party in connection with the separation. In addition, each of us, Cendant, and Realogy may be responsible for
100% of certain of Cendant’s tax liabilities that will provide the responsible party with a future, offsetting tax benefit.
If any party responsible for the liabilities described above were to default on its obligations, each non-defaulting party (including Avis Budget) would be required
to pay an equal portion of the amounts in default. Accordingly, we could, under certain circumstances, be obligated to pay amounts in excess of our share of the
assumed obligations related to such liabilities including associated costs. On or about April 10, 2007, Realogy Corporation was acquired by affiliates of Apollo
Management VI, L.P. and its stock is no longer publicly traded. The acquisition does not negate Realogy’s obligation to satisfy 62.5% of such contingent and
other corporate liabilities of Cendant or its subsidiaries pursuant to the term of the separation agreement. As a result of the acquisition, however, Realogy has
greater debt obligations and its ability to satisfy its portion of these liabilities may be adversely impacted. In accordance with the terms of the separation
agreement, Realogy posted a letter of credit in April 2007 for our and Cendant’s benefit to cover its estimated share of the assumed liabilities discussed above,
although there can be no assurance that such letter of credit will be sufficient to cover Realogy’s actual obligations if and when they arise.
The IRS has commenced an audit of Cendant’s taxable years 2003 through 2006, during which we were included in Cendant’s tax returns. Our recorded tax
liabilities for these tax years represent our current best estimates of the probable outcome for certain tax positions taken by Cendant for which we would be
responsible under the tax sharing agreement. The rules governing taxation are complex and subject to varying interpretations. Therefore, our tax accruals reflect a
series of complex judgments about future events and rely heavily on estimates and assumptions. While we believe that the estimates and assumptions supporting
our tax accruals are reasonable, tax audits and any related litigation could result in tax liabilities for us that are materially different than those reflected in our
historical income tax provisions and recorded assets and liabilities. Further, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not propose adjustments to the returns for
which we may be responsible under the tax sharing agreement or that any such proposed adjustments would not be material. The result of an audit or litigation
could have a material adverse effect on our income tax provision and/or net income in the period or periods to which such audit or litigation relates and/or cash
flows in the period or periods during which taxes due must be paid.
We may be required to write-off a portion of the remaining goodwill value of companies we have acquired.
Under generally accepted accounting principles, we review our intangible assets, including goodwill, for impairment at least annually or when events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors that may be considered a change in circumstances, indicating that the carrying value
of our goodwill or other intangible assets may not be recoverable, include a sustained decline in our stock price and market capitalization, reduced future cash
flow estimates, and slower growth rates in our industry. We may be required to record a significant non-cash impairment charge in our financial statements during
the period in which any impairment of our goodwill or other intangible assets is determined, negatively impacting our results of operations and stockholders’
equity.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
None.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
Not applicable.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information.
Not applicable.
Item 6. Exhibits.
The exhibit index appears on the page immediately following the signature page of this report.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

WYNDHAM WORLDWIDE CORPORATION

Date: November 5, 2009

/s/ Thomas G. Conforti
Thomas G. Conforti
Chief Financial Officer

Date: November 5, 2009

/s/ Nicola Rossi
Nicola Rossi
Chief Accounting Officer
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Exhibit 10.1
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Employment Agreement (this “Agreement”) is dated as of September 8, 2009, by and between Wyndham Worldwide Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”) and Thomas Conforti (the “Executive”).
WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Executive, and the Executive desires to serve the Company, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this
Agreement.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the
parties hereby agree as follows:
SECTION I
EMPLOYMENT; POSITION AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The Company agrees to employ the Executive and the Executive agrees to be employed by the Company during the Period of Employment (as defined in Section II below)
in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. During the Period of Employment, the Executive shall serve as Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. The Executive shall report to, and be subject to the direction of, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the “Supervising Officer”). The Executive shall
perform such duties and exercise such supervision with regard to the business of the Company as are associated with his respective position, as well as such reasonable
additional duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Supervising Officer. The Company acknowledges that given the nature and scope of the Executive’s duties
and responsibilities as the Chief Financial Officer of a publicly traded company, an integral part of the Executive being able to perform such duties and responsibilities is the
Executive’s ability to report directly to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and the Company further agrees the Chief Executive Officer of the Company shall not
delegate the direct supervision of the Executive.
The Executive shall, during the Period of Employment, devote substantially all of his time and attention during normal business hours to the performance of services for the
Company. The Executive shall maintain a primary office and conduct his business in Parsippany, New Jersey (the “Business Office”), except for normal and reasonable
business travel in connection with his duties hereunder.
SECTION II
PERIOD OF EMPLOYMENT
The period of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement (the “Period of Employment”) shall begin on September 8, 2009 (the “Effective Date”), and shall end
on the third anniversary of the Effective Date, subject to earlier termination as provided in this

Agreement. No later than 180 days prior to the expiration of the Period of Employment, the Company and the Executive will commence a good faith negotiation regarding
extending the Period of Employment; provided, that, neither party hereto shall have any obligation hereunder or otherwise to consummate any such extension or enter into any
new agreement relating to the Executive’s employment with the Company. For the avoidance of doubt, the Executive shall not be entitled to payments pursuant to Section VI
(a) of this Agreement solely by reason of the Company electing to neither extend this Agreement nor enter into a new agreement with the Executive following the Period of
Employment. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Company, in the event that the Executive does not begin his
employment on or before September 8, 2009, then this Agreement and all of the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall terminate and be void and of no force or
effect.
SECTION III
COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS
For all services rendered by the Executive pursuant to this Agreement during the Period of Employment, including services as an executive officer, director or committee
member of the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, the Executive shall be compensated as follows:
(a)

Base Salary. During the Period of Employment the Company will pay the Executive a base salary at an annual rate equal to five hundred and twenty five thousand
dollars ($525,000), subject to annual increases as the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”), deems
appropriate in its sole discretion (“Base Salary”). Base Salary shall be payable according to the customary payroll practices of the Company, but in no event less
frequently than once each month.

(b)

Annual Incentive Awards. The Executive will be eligible to earn an annual incentive compensation award for each fiscal year of the Company during the Period of
Employment based upon a target bonus equal to 100% of Base Salary earned during each such year, subject to the terms and conditions of the annual bonus plan
covering employees of the Company, and further subject to the attainment by the Company of such performance goals, criteria or targets established and certified
by the Committee in its sole discretion in respect of each such fiscal year, including, if approved by the Committee, performance and bonus targets relating to the
attainment of above-target performance (each such annual bonus, an “Incentive Compensation Award”). With respect to 2009 performance, the Executive will
receive an Incentive Compensation Award in an amount equal to one hundred seventy five thousand dollars ($175,000) (the “2009 Incentive Compensation
Award”) no later than the date that is two-and-one-half (21/ 2) months following the end of the taxable year of the Executive or the Company in which the 2009
Incentive Compensation Award is earned by the Executive and deemed vested for purposes of Code Section 409A (as defined herein); provided, however, that the
Executive must be employed by the Company on the date that 2009 performance based bonuses are paid to employees.
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The Executive’s bonus targets relating to Incentive Compensation Awards will be established by the Committee based upon the Company’s financial performance
targets substantially equivalent to those applicable to other comparable senior executive officers (excluding the Supervising Officer). Each Incentive Compensation
Award (other than the 2009 Incentive Compensation Award) will be paid to the Executive at such time as shall be determined by the Committee, but in no event
later than the last day of the calendar year following the calendar year with respect to which the performance targets relate.
(c)

Long-Term Incentive Awards. As promptly as reasonably possible following the Effective Date, the Committee will grant the Executive restricted stock units with
an aggregate grant date value equal to one million five hundred thousand dollars ($1,500,000) vesting in equal installments on each of the first four anniversaries of
the date of grant (the “2009 Grant”). The 2009 Grant will be granted under, and subject to the terms and conditions of, the Company’s 2006 Equity and Incentive
Plan, as amended (the “Equity Plan”), and the applicable agreement evidencing such award as determined by the Committee. Thereafter, the Executive shall be
eligible for long term incentive awards as determined by the Committee, and the Executive will participate in such grants at a target compensation level
commensurate with his position as a senior executive officer of the Company. For purposes of this Agreement, awards described in this paragraph are referred to as
“Long Term Incentive Awards.” Except as provided herein, any Long Term Incentive Awards shall vest as determined by the Committee, including with respect
to any performance-based conditions applicable to vesting, in its sole and absolute discretion, and shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the Equity Plan and
applicable award agreement.

(d)

Relocation. The Executive will be provided with relocation assistance in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Company’s relocation policy applicable to
similarly situated named executive officers of the Company unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the parties.

(e)

Additional Benefits. The Executive shall be entitled to participate in all other compensation and employee benefit plans or programs and receive all benefits and
perquisites now in effect, or later established by the Company, on the same basis as similarly situated senior executives of the Company with comparable duties and
responsibilities (other than the Supervising Officer), and in each case in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions of such plans or programs. For
2009, such programs shall include, but not be limited to, access to a company-provided car, financial planning and tax services and executive medical benefits upon
the same terms and conditions applicable to similarly situated executives of the Company (other than the Supervising Officer). The Executive shall also be entitled
to a Supplemental Medical Executive Reimbursement Plan to be provided by the Company subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of such plan.
SECTION IV
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BUSINESS EXPENSES
The Company shall promptly reimburse the Executive for all reasonable travel and other expenses incurred by the Executive in connection with the performance of his
duties and obligations under this Agreement. The Executive shall comply with such limitations and reporting requirements with respect to expenses as may be established by
the Company from time to time for its executive officers and shall promptly provide all appropriate and requested documentation in connection with such expenses. The
Company shall reimburse all taxable business expenses to the Executive on or before the last day of the Executive’s taxable year following the taxable year in which the
expenses are incurred.
SECTION V
DEATH AND DISABILITY
The Period of Employment shall end upon the Executive’s death. If the Executive becomes Disabled (as defined below) during the Period of Employment, the Period of
Employment may be terminated at the option of the Executive upon notice of resignation to the Company, or at the option of the Company upon notice of termination to the
Executive. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),
and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (“Code Section 409A”). The Company’s obligation to make payments to the Executive under this Agreement shall
cease as of such date of termination, except for Base Salary and any Incentive Compensation Awards earned but unpaid as of the date of such termination, which shall be paid
in accordance with the terms set forth in Sections III(a) and Section III(b), respectively. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company will not take any action with respect to
the Executive’s employment status pursuant to this Section V earlier than the date on which the Executive becomes eligible for long-term disability benefits under the
Company’s long-term disability plan in effect from time to time.
SECTION VI
EFFECT OF TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT
(a)

Without Cause Termination and Constructive Discharge. If the Executive’s employment terminates during the Period of Employment due to either a Without Cause
Termination or a Constructive Discharge (each as defined below), the Company shall pay the Executive (or his surviving spouse, estate or personal representative,
as applicable), subject to Sections VI(d) and XIX below:
(i)

A lump sum payment equal to 200% multiplied by the sum of (x) the Executive’s then-current Base Salary, plus (y) an amount equal to the highest Incentive
Compensation Award paid to the Executive with respect to the three fiscal years of the Company immediately preceding the fiscal year in which Executive’s
termination of employment occurs, but in no event shall the amount set forth in this subsection (y) exceed 100% of the Executive’s then-current Base Salary.
In the event of the Executive’s termination during the three years following the Effective Date such
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amount in subsection (y) shall be five hundred twenty five thousand ($525,000).
(ii)

All time-based Long Term Incentive Awards (including all stock options and stock appreciation rights) granted on or after the Effective Date that would
have otherwise vested within one (1) year following the Executive’s termination of employment will become vested upon the Executive’s termination of
employment, and any such awards that are stock options or stock appreciation rights will remain outstanding for a period of two (2) years (but not beyond the
original expiration date) following the Executive’s termination of employment. Subject to Article XIX below, vested time-based Long Term Incentive
Awards shall be paid to the Executive in accordance with the terms and conditions of such awards.

(iii)

With respect to any performance-based Long Term Incentive Awards (including restricted stock units but excluding stock options and stock appreciation
rights) granted on or after the Effective Date, provided that the performance goals applicable to the Long-Term Incentive Award are achieved, the Executive
shall be entitled to vest in and be paid a pro-rata portion of such Long Term Incentive Award based upon the portion of the full performance period during
which the Executive was employed by the Company plus 12 months (or, if less, assuming employment for the entire performance period remaining after the
Executive’s termination). Subject to Section XIX below, vested performance-based Long Term Incentive Awards shall be paid to the Executive in
accordance with the terms of the applicable agreement. The provisions relating to Long Term Incentive Awards set forth in this Section shall not supersede
or replace any provision or right of the Executive relating to the acceleration of the vesting of such awards in the event of a change in control of the Company
or the Executive’s death or disability, whether pursuant to an applicable stock plan document or award agreement.

(b)

Termination for Cause; Resignation. If the Executive’s employment terminates due to a Termination for Cause or a Resignation, Base Salary earned but unpaid as of
the date of such termination shall be paid to the Executive in accordance with paragraph (d) below. Outstanding stock options and other equity awards held by the
Executive as of the date of termination shall be treated in accordance with their terms.

(c)

For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:
(i)

“Termination for Cause” means a termination of the Executive’s employment due to (a) the Executive’s willful failure to substantially perform his duties as
an employee of the Company or any subsidiary (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness), (b) any act of fraud,
misappropriation, dishonesty,
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embezzlement or similar conduct against the Company or any subsidiary, (c) the Executive’s conviction of a felony or any crime involving moral turpitude
(which conviction, due to the passage of time or otherwise, is not subject to further appeal), (d) the Executive’s gross negligence in the performance of his
duties or (e) the Executive purposefully or negligently makes (or has been found to have made) a false certification regarding the Company’s financial
statements. Unless the Company reasonably determines in its sole discretion that the Executive’s conduct is not subject to cure, then the Company will
provide written notice to the Executive of its intention to terminate the Executive’s employment and that such termination is a Termination for Cause, along
with a description of the Executive’s conduct that the Company believes gives rise to the Termination for Cause, and provide the Executive with a period of
15 days to cure such conduct and/or challenge the Company’s determination that such termination was a Termination for Cause; provided, however, that
(i) the determination of whether such conduct has been cured and/or gives rise to a Termination for Cause shall be made by the Company in its sole discretion
and (ii) the Company shall be entitled to immediately and unilaterally restrict or suspend the Executive’s duties during such 15 day period pending such
determination.

(d)

(ii)

“Constructive Discharge” means (a) any material breach by the Company of the terms of this Agreement, (b) a material diminution in Base Salary, (c) a
material diminution in the Executive’s authority, duties or responsibilities or (d) a relocation of the Executive’s primary office to a location more than fifty
(50) miles from the Business Office. The Executive will provide the Company a written notice that describes the circumstances being relied on for such
termination with respect to this Agreement within thirty (30) days after the event, circumstance or condition giving rise to the notice. The Company will have
thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice to remedy the situation prior to the termination for Constructive Discharge.

(iii)

“Without Cause Termination” or “Terminated Without Cause” means termination of the Executive’s employment by the Company other than due to
death, Disability, or Termination for Cause.

(iv)

“Resignation” means a termination of the Executive’s employment by the Executive, other than in connection with a Constructive Discharge.

Conditions to Payment and Acceleration. In the event of a termination under this Section VI, Base Salary earned but unpaid as of the date of such termination shall
be paid in accordance with Section III(a), and any Incentive Compensation Awards (including, if applicable, the 2009 Incentive Compensation Award) earned but
unpaid as of the date of such termination shall be paid in accordance with Section III(b). All payments due to the Executive under the first sentence of Section VI(a)
shall be made in a lump sum to the Executive within 60 days
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following the date of termination; provided, however, that such payment shall be subject to, and contingent upon, the execution by the Executive (or his beneficiary
or estate) of a release of claims against the Company and its affiliates in such reasonable form determined by the Company in its sole discretion. The payments due
to the Executive under this Section VI shall be in lieu of any other severance benefits otherwise payable to the Executive under any severance plan of the Company
or its affiliates.
SECTION VII
OTHER DUTIES OF THE EXECUTIVE
DURING AND AFTER THE PERIOD OF EMPLOYMENT
(a)

The Executive shall, with reasonable notice during or after the Period of Employment, furnish information as may be in his possession and fully cooperate with the
Company and its affiliates as may be requested in connection with any claims or legal action in which the Company or any of its affiliates is or may become a
party. After the Period of Employment, the Executive shall cooperate as reasonably requested with the Company and its affiliates in connection with any claims or
legal actions in which the Company or any of its affiliates is or may become a party. The Company agrees to reimburse the Executive for any reasonable out-ofpocket expenses incurred by Executive by reason of such cooperation, including any loss of salary, and the Company shall make reasonable efforts to minimize
interruption of the Executive’s life in connection with his cooperation in such matters as provided for in this paragraph.

(b)

The Executive recognizes and acknowledges that all information pertaining to this Agreement or to the affairs; business; results of operations; accounting methods,
practices and procedures; members; acquisition candidates; financial condition; clients; customers or other relationships of the Company or any of its affiliates
(“Information”) is confidential and is a unique and valuable asset of the Company or any of its affiliates. Access to and knowledge of certain of the Information is
essential to the performance of the Executive’s duties under this Agreement. The Executive shall not during the Period of Employment or thereafter, except to the
extent reasonably necessary in performance of his duties under this Agreement, give to any person, firm, association, corporation, or governmental agency any
Information, except as may be required by law. The Executive shall not make use of the Information for his own purposes or for the benefit of any person or
organization other than the Company or any of its affiliates. All records, memoranda, etc. relating to the business of the Company or its affiliates, whether made by
the Executive or otherwise coming into his possession, are confidential and shall remain the property of the Company or its affiliates.

(c)
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(i)

During the Period of Employment and the Post Employment Period, (as defined below and, together with the Period of Employment, the “Restricted
Period”), irrespective of the cause, manner or time of any termination, the Executive shall not use his status with the Company or any of its affiliates to
obtain loans, goods or services from another organization on terms that would not be available to him in the absence of his relationship to the Company or
any of its affiliates.

(ii)

During the Restricted Period, the Executive shall not make any statements or perform any acts intended to or which may have the effect of advancing the
interest of any existing or prospective competitors of the Company or any of its affiliates or in any way injuring the interests of the Company or any of its
affiliates. During the Restricted Period, the Executive, without prior express written approval by the Board, shall not engage in, or directly or indirectly
(whether for compensation or otherwise) own or hold any proprietary interest in, manage, operate, or control, or join or participate in the ownership,
management, operation or control of, or furnish any capital to or be connected in any manner with, any business or venture which competes in any way or
manner with the Company’s business, as such business or businesses may be conducted from time to time, either as a general or limited partner, proprietor,
common or preferred shareholder, officer, director, agent, employee, consultant, trustee, affiliate, or otherwise. The Executive acknowledges that the
Company’s and its affiliates’ businesses are conducted nationally and internationally and agrees that the provisions in the foregoing sentence shall operate
throughout the United States and the world.

(iii)

During the Restricted Period, the Executive, without express prior written approval from the Board, shall not solicit any then-current clients of the Company
or any of its affiliates for any existing business of the Company or any of its affiliates or, except during the Period of Employment as would be required in
connection with the performance of his duties under this Agreement, discuss with any employee of the Company or any of its affiliates information or
operation of any business intended to compete with the Company or any of its affiliates.

(iv)

During the Restricted Period, the Executive shall not interfere with the employees or affairs of the Company or any of its affiliates or solicit or induce any
person who is an employee of the Company or any of its affiliates to terminate any relationship such person may have with the Company or any of its
affiliates, nor shall the Executive during such period directly or indirectly engage, employ or compensate, or cause or permit any person with which the
Executive may be affiliated, to engage, employ or compensate, any employee of the Company or any of its affiliates. The Executive hereby represents and
warrants that the Executive has not entered into any agreement, understanding or arrangement with any employee of the Company or any of its affiliates
pertaining to any
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business in which the Executive has participated or plans to participate, or to the employment, engagement or compensation of any such employee.
(v)

For the purposes of this Agreement, the term “proprietary interest” means legal or equitable ownership, whether through stock holding or otherwise, of an
equity interest in a business, firm or entity or ownership of more than 5% of any class of equity interest in a publicly-held company, the term “affiliate” shall
include without limitation all subsidiaries and licensees of the Company and the term, “Post Employment Period” means either (1) if the Executive’s
employment terminates for any reason at such time following the expiration of the Period of Employment hereunder, a period of one year following the
Executive’s termination of employment; or (2) if the Executive’s employment terminates during the Period of Employment hereunder, a period of two years
following the Executive’s termination of employment.

(d)

The Executive hereby acknowledges that damages at law may be an insufficient remedy to the Company if the Executive violates the terms of this Agreement and
that the Company shall be entitled, upon making the requisite showing, to preliminary and/or permanent injunctive relief in any court of competent jurisdiction to
restrain the breach of or otherwise to specifically enforce any of the covenants contained in this Section VII without the necessity of showing any actual damage or
that monetary damages would not provide an adequate remedy. Such right to an injunction shall be in addition to, and not in limitation of, any other rights or
remedies the Company may have. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, neither party shall oppose any motion the other party may make for any
expedited discovery or hearing in connection with any alleged breach of this Section VII.

(e)

The period of time during which the provisions of this Section VII shall be in effect shall be extended by the length of time during which the Executive is in breach
of the terms hereof as determined by any court of competent jurisdiction on the Company’s application for injunctive relief.

(f)

The Executive agrees that the restrictions contained in this Section VII are an essential element of the compensation the Executive is granted hereunder and but for
the Executive’s agreement to comply with such restrictions, the Company would not have entered into this Agreement.
SECTION VIII
INDEMNIFICATION

The Company shall indemnify the Executive to the fullest extent permitted by the laws of the state of the Company’s incorporation in effect at that time, or the certificate
of incorporation and by-laws of the Company, whichever affords the greater protection to the Executive
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(including payment of expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding as permitted by such laws or certificate of incorporation and bylaws).
SECTION IX
MITIGATION
The Executive shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment provided for hereunder by seeking other employment or otherwise, nor shall the amount of any
such payment be reduced by any compensation earned by the Executive as the result of employment by another employer after the date the Executive’s employment hereunder
terminates.
SECTION X
WITHHOLDING TAXES
The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Company may directly or indirectly withhold from applicable payments under this Agreement all federal, state, city or
other taxes that shall be required pursuant to any law or governmental regulation.
SECTION XI
EFFECT OF PRIOR AGREEMENTS
This Agreement shall supersede any prior oral or written agreements between the Company and the Executive relating to the terms of the Executive’s employment, and any
such prior agreement shall be deemed terminated without any remaining obligations of either party thereunder.
SECTION XII
CONSOLIDATION, MERGER OR SALE OF ASSETS
Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude the Company from consolidating or merging into or with, or transferring all or substantially all of its assets to, another
corporation.
SECTION XIII
MODIFICATION
This Agreement may not be modified or amended except in writing signed by the parties hereto. No term or condition of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been
waived except in writing by the party charged with waiver. A waiver shall operate only as to the specific term or condition waived and shall not constitute a waiver for the
future or act as a waiver of anything other than that which is specifically waived.
SECTION XIV
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GOVERNING LAW
This Agreement has been executed and delivered in the State of New Jersey and its validity, interpretation, performance and enforcement shall be governed by the internal
laws of that state.
SECTION XV
ARBITRATION
(a)

Any controversy, dispute or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach hereof which cannot be settled by mutual agreement of the parties hereto
(other than with respect to the matters covered by Section VII for which the Company may, but shall not be required to, seek injunctive relief) shall be finally
settled by binding arbitration in accordance with the Federal Arbitration Act (or if not applicable, the applicable state arbitration law) as follows: Any party hereto
who is aggrieved shall deliver a notice to the other party hereto setting forth the specific points in dispute. Any points remaining in dispute twenty (20) days after
the giving of such notice may be submitted to arbitration in New Jersey, to the American Arbitration Association, before a single arbitrator appointed in accordance
with the arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association, modified only as herein expressly provided. After the aforesaid twenty (20) days, either party
hereto, upon ten (10) days notice to the other, may so submit the points in dispute to arbitration. The arbitrator may enter a default decision against any party who
fails to participate in the arbitration proceedings.

(b)

The decision of the arbitrator on the points in dispute shall be final, unappealable and binding, and judgment on the award may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction thereof.

(c)

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the arbitrator shall be authorized to apportion its fees and expenses and the reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses
of any such party as the arbitrator deems appropriate. In the absence of any such apportionment, the fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by
each party, and each party shall bear the fees and expenses of its own attorney.

(d)

The parties hereto agree that this Section XV has been included to rapidly and inexpensively resolve any disputes between them with respect to this Agreement, and
that this Section XV shall be grounds for dismissal of any court action commenced by either party hereto with respect to this Agreement, other than post-arbitration
actions seeking to enforce an arbitration award. In the event that any court determines that this arbitration procedure is not binding, or otherwise allows any
litigation regarding a dispute, claim, or controversy covered by this Agreement to proceed, the parties hereto hereby waive any and all right to a trial by jury in or
with respect to such litigation.
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(e)

The parties shall keep confidential, and shall not disclose to any person, except as may be required by law, the existence of any controversy hereunder, the referral
of any such controversy to arbitration or the status or resolution thereof.
SECTION XVI
SURVIVAL

Section VI through, and including, Section XIX shall continue in full force in accordance with their respective terms notwithstanding any termination of the Period of
Employment. The termination of the Period of Employment shall not affect any accrued and vested rights the Executive may have as of the date of such termination under
Sections III(e) or IV, subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable plan.
SECTION XVII
SEPARABILITY
All provisions of this Agreement are intended to be severable. In the event any provision or restriction contained herein is held to be invalid or unenforceable in any
respect, in whole or in part, such finding shall in no way affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement. The parties hereto further agree that any
such invalid or unenforceable provision shall be deemed modified so that it shall be enforced to the greatest extent permissible under law, and to the extent that any court of
competent jurisdiction determines any restriction herein to be unreasonable in any respect, such court may limit this Agreement to render it reasonable in the light of the
circumstances in which it was entered into and specifically enforce this Agreement as limited.
SECTION XVIII
NO CONFLICTS
The Executive represents and warrants to the Company that he is not a party to or otherwise bound by any agreement or arrangement (including, without limitation, any
license, covenant, or commitment of any nature), or subject to any judgment, decree, or order of any court or administrative agency, that would conflict with or will be in
conflict with or in any way preclude, limit or inhibit the Executive’s ability to execute this Agreement or to carry out his duties and responsibilities hereunder.
SECTION XIX
SECTION 409A OF THE CODE
(a)

Section 409A. Although the Company does not guarantee to the Executive any particular tax treatment relating to the payments and benefits under this Agreement,
it is intended that such payments and benefits be exempt from, or comply with, Code Section 409A, and this Agreement shall be construed in a
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manner consistent with the requirements for avoiding taxes or penalties under Code Section 409A.
(b)

Separation From Service. A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this Agreement providing for the
payment of amounts or benefits subject to Code Section 409A upon or following a termination of employment unless such termination is also a “separation from
service” within the meaning of Code Section 409A (“Separation from Service”), and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement, references to a
“resignation,” “termination,” “termination of employment” or like terms shall mean Separation from Service.

(c)

Reimbursement. With regard to any provision herein that provides for reimbursement of costs and expenses or in-kind benefits, except as permitted by Code
Section 409A, (i) the right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit and (ii) the amount of expenses
eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits, provided during any taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be
provided, in any other taxable year, provided, that the foregoing clause shall not be violated with regard to expenses reimbursed under any arrangement covered by
Section 105(b) of the Code solely because such expenses are subject to a limit related to the period the arrangement is in effect.

(d)

Specified Employee. If the Executive is deemed on the date of termination of employment to be a “specified employee”, within the meaning of that term under
Section 409A(a)(2)(B) of the Code and using the identification methodology selected by the Company from time to time, or if none, the default methodology, then:
(i)

With regard to any payment, the providing of any benefit or any distribution of equity under this Agreement that constitutes “deferred compensation” subject
to Code Section 409A, payable upon separation from service, such payment, benefit or distribution shall not be made or provided prior to the earlier of
(x) the expiration of the six-month period measured from the date of the Executive’s Separation from Service or (y) the date of the Executive’s death; and
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(ii)

On the first day of the seventh month following the date of the Executive’s Separation from Service or, if earlier, on the date of death, (x) all payments
delayed pursuant to this Section XIX shall be paid or reimbursed to the Executive in a lump sum, and any remaining payments and benefits due under this
Agreement shall be paid or provided in accordance with the normal dates specified for them herein and (y) all distributions of equity delayed pursuant to this
Section XIX shall be made to the Executive.

(e)

Company Discretion. Whenever a payment under this Agreement specifies a payment period with reference to a number of days (e.g., “payment shall be made
within 60 days following the date of termination), the actual date of payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion of the Company and the
number of days referenced shall refer to the number of calendar days.

(f)

Compliance. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in no event whatsoever shall the Company or any of its affiliates be liable for any additional tax,
interest or penalties that may be imposed on the Executive by Code Section 409A or any damages for failing to comply with Code Section 409A.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
WYNDHAM WORLDWIDE CORPORATION
By: /s/ Mary Falvey
Name: Mary Falvey
Title: Chief HR Officer
/s/ Thomas Conforti
Thomas Conforti

Exhibit 12
WYNDHAM WORLDWIDE CORPORATION
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(Dollars in millions)
Nine Months
Ended September 30,
2009
2008

Earnings available to cover fixed charges:
Income before income taxes
Plus: Fixed charges
Amortization of capitalized interest
Less: Capitalized interest
Earnings available to cover fixed charges

$

$

Fixed charges (*):
Interest, including amortization of deferred financing costs
Interest portion of rental expense
Total fixed charges

$
$

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges
(*)

375
200
10
8
577

$

181
19
200

$

2.89x

$

$

457
175
16
15
633
152
23
175
3.62x

Consists of interest expense on all indebtedness (including amortization of deferred financing costs) and the portion of operating lease rental expense that is representative of the interest
factor.
***

Exhibit 15
November 5, 2009
Wyndham Worldwide Corporation
22 Sylvan Way
Parsippany, NJ 07054
We have reviewed, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the unaudited interim financial
information of Wyndham Worldwide Corporation and subsidiaries for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2009, and 2008, as indicated
in our report dated November X, 2009; because we did not perform an audit, we expressed no opinion on that information.
We are aware that our report referred to above, which is included in your Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, is
incorporated by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-136090 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement No. 333-155676 on Form S-3.
We also are aware that the aforementioned report, pursuant to Rule 436(c) under the Securities Act of 1933, is not considered a part of the Registration Statement
prepared or certified by an accountant or a report prepared or certified by an accountant within the meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of that Act.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Parsippany, New Jersey
***

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Stephen P. Holmes, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Wyndham Worldwide Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 5, 2009

/s/ STEPHEN P. HOLMES
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Thomas G. Conforti, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Wyndham Worldwide Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 5, 2009

/s/ THOMAS G. CONFORTI
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND CFO PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Wyndham Worldwide Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2009, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Stephen P. Holmes, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Thomas G.
Conforti, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ STEPHEN P. HOLMES
Stephen P. Holmes
Chief Executive Officer
November 5, 2009

/s/ THOMAS G. CONFORTI
Thomas G. Conforti
Chief Financial Officer
November 5, 2009

